
AnnuAl RepoRt 2011



<< 2 >>   NZF ANNUAL REPORT 2011

When youR vision is cleAR, youR decisions ARe eAsy.  Walt Disney



<< 1 >>   NZF ANNUAL REPORT 2011

CONTENTS
02  Chief Executive Officers’ Report
07   Directors’ Report 
12  Shareholder Information 
14 Corporate Governance 
17 Independent Auditors’ Report
19  Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
21  Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
22 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
23 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
25 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
81 Company Directory

<< 1 >>  NZF ANNUAL REPORT 2011  



<< 2 >>   NZF ANNUAL REPORT 2011

“ wE ARE PlEASED tO ADvISE thAt ON 10 JuNE 2011, NZF ACCEPtED A tERm ShEEt 
wIth A StAGED PERIOD OF ExCluSIvIty wIth AN AuStRAlIAN PRIvAtE COmPANy tO 
COmPlEtE thE FINAl StAGES OF mutuAl DuE DIlIGENCE FOllOwING whICh It IS 
ExPECtED thAt A JOINt vENtuRE wIll EmERGE FOCuSED ON thE GROuP’S hOmE 
lENDING ACtIvItIES.”

A CHANGING 
LANDSCAPE
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the Board of NZF Group 
limited report an audited 
net operating loss of $4.767 
million for the year ended 31 
march 2011, which compares 
with a net operating loss of 
$4.596 million incurred in 
the previous financial year.

In what can only be 
described as another 
extremely difficult and 
challenging year for the 
Financial Services sector 
in New Zealand, NZF’s 
results have continued to be 
adversely affected by:

•  the far reaching impacts 
of the Global Financial 
Crisis;

•  A depressed local property 
market and slow economic 
recovery in New Zealand;

•  the expiry of the Crown 
Retail Deposit Guarantee 
Scheme (RDGS) on 12 
October 2010; and 

•  Negative media 
surrounding a number of 
large high profile Finance 
Company failures.  

  
whilst total revenues earned 
by NZF’s Financial Services 
Distribution Division fell 
by approximately 17% on 
the previous financial year, 
the most significant impact 
on NZF’s results for the 
year were in its Property 
Finance and Consumer 
Finance Divisions. however, 
this result was moderated 
by NZF’s home loans 
Division, which had another 
very successful year of 
operation and recorded a 

net operating profit before 
tax of $2.511 million. we are 
also pleased to advise that 
the $225,000,000 warehouse 
Facility provided by westpac 
has also been renegotiated 
and extended to 18 October 
2012.

looking forward, we are 
also pleased to advise 
that on 10 June 2011, NZF 
accepted a term sheet with 
a staged period of exclusivity 
with an Australian private 
company to complete the 
final stages of mutual due 
diligence following which 
it is expected that a joint 
venture will emerge focused 
on the Group’s home lending 
activities.

property Finance division
NZF’s Property Finance 
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Division incurred a net 
operating loss before tax 
of $5.423 million for the 
year ended 31 march 2011, 
which is stated net of loan 
impairment allowance 
movements and bad debt 
costs of $5.105 million. this 
compared to a net operating 
profit before tax of $0.943 
million achieved in the 
previous financial year.  

As previously reported, 
the expiry of the RDGS 
on 12 October 2010 put 
unnatural pressures on cash 
flows nearing the expiry 
of the guarantee. this is 
highlighted by the reduction 
in the Group’s secured 
debenture stock funding 
from $63.794 million as at 
31 march 2010 to $20.876 
million as at 31 march 2011.  

Due to the pressures placed 
on cash flows nearing 
the expiry of the RDGS, 
the Group’s sole focus 
became that of increasing 
liquidity in order to fund 
approximately $42.918 
million of maturing secured 
debenture stock for those 
investors that relied solely 
on the RDGS. this included 
careful management of 
our Property Finance loan 
book where in some cases, 
mortgagee sales prices 
achieved were less than 
previously expected due  
to a slump in property  
sales.  

whilst market conditions 
remain difficult, we 
are pleased to report 
that reinvestment rates 
(currently in excess of 50%) 

and new investment rates 
for secured debenture 
stock funding have shown 
significant improvement 
following the expiry of the 
RDGS. the local property 
market is also showing 
signs of improvement, with 
a clear need for established 
providers of non-bank 
finance.  

consumer Finance division
NZF’s Consumer Finance 
Division, which comprised 
NZF’s 70% shareholding 
in Finance Direct limited, 
incurred a net operating 
loss after tax of $1.067 
million for the year ended 
31 march 2011, compared 
to a net operating profit 
after tax of $0.117 million 
achieved in the previous 
financial year.  
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the net operating loss after 
tax incurred in the current 
financial year included a 
loss on the sale of NZF’s 
70% shareholding in Finance 
Direct limited to the existing 
minority shareholder on 
30 march 2011, following 
a decision being made by 
the Board that Consumer 
Finance was not considered 
core to NZF’s operations 
going forward. 

home loans division
NZF’s home loans Division 
has had another very 
successful year of operation 
and recorded a net operating 
profit before tax of $2.511 
million.  

During the year ended 31 
march 2011, NZF’s home 
loans portfolio decreased 

slightly from $200.506 
million to $196.935 million 
and completed the launch 
of its first $100 million 
Residential mortgage Backed 
Securities (RmBS) issue, 
which was the first RmBS 
issue in New Zealand since 
late 2007. 

On the 3rd of June 2011 the 
$225,000,000 warehouse 
Facility between westpac 
Banking Corporation, NZF 
mortgages warehouse A 
trust, NZF homeloans 
limited and NZF Group 
limited, was renegotiated 
and extended the maturity 
date of the facility to 18 
October 2012.

On 10 June 2011, NZF 
Group limited entered into 
exclusive due diligence 

with an Australian private 
company over a staged 
period. It is expected that the 
party will support the home 
loan activities. the Australian 
partner which will have a 
majority stake in NZF’s home 
loan division and is vastly 
experienced in the Australian 
RmBS market and will add 
significantly to the current 
operations of this division. 

the Directors have resolved 
that a dividend will not be 
declared for this reporting 
period as it is considered 
more prudent to retain 
cash in the current market 
conditions. 
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leAdeRs keep theiR eyes on the hoRizon, not just on the bottom line. Warren G. Bennis 



NEW 
DIRECTIONS
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craig irving 
Alexander 
Chairman and 
Independent 
Director

mark hume 
thornton 
Executive  
Director
 

john Francis 
henderson 
Independent 
Director

pat Redpath 
o’connor 
Non-Executive 
Director

Nature of Business
the business of the Company and Group has continued to be the provision of a broad range of 
financial products and services during the year under review.  

Directors
the names of the Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

In accordance with the Company’s Constitution, mark hume thornton and Pat Redpath 
O’Connor will retire, and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

the Directors of NZF Group limited resolved to submit the following report with respect to the 
financial position of the Company and Group as at 31 march 2011 and its financial performance 
and cash flows for the year ended on that date.
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Consolidated Result For The Year

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

total gross operating income from continuing operations   26,031 30,887

total net operating income   5,549 6,833

movement in loan impairment allowances and bad debts written off   (5,795) 158

Gains/(losses) on financial instruments at fair value   723 2,269

operating expenses and staff costs   (5,530) (5,992)

operating profit/(loss) before impairment loss on intangible assets   (5,053) 3,268

impairment loss on intangible assets   - (6,975)

loss before income tax   (5,053) (3,707)

income tax (expense)/benefit   1,240 (971)

loss from continuing operations   (3,813) (4,678)

(loss)/profit from discontinued operations (after tax)   (1,067) 117

total comprehensive income for the year   (4,880) (4,561)

Attributable to:

non controlling interest   (113) 35

equity holders of the company   (4,767) (4,596)

diRectoRs’ RepoRt   
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Remuneration of Directors
During the year the following remuneration was paid or payable to Directors:

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

compAny

nzF Group limited
Pat Redpath O’Connor 27 27

mark hume thornton - -

Jeffrey Albert Barkwill (Resigned 22 September 2010) 17 33

Richard Alan waddel (Resigned 31 December 2010) 43 45

John Alan Callaghan (Resigned 15 march 2011) 2 -

Peter Karl Christopher huljich (Resigned 12 April 2011) 30 33

subsidiARies

nzF money limited
Pat Redpath O’Connor - -

mark hume thornton 184 180

Craig Irving Alexander (Appointed 29 October 2010) 30 -

John Francis henderson (Appointed 31 December 2010) 4 -

Jeffrey Albert Barkwill (Resigned 13 September 2010) - -

Richard Alan waddel (Resigned 31 December 2010) - -

John Alan Callaghan (Resigned 15 march 2011) 196 225

Peter Karl Christopher huljich (Resigned 12 April 2011) - -

nzF homeloans limited
mark hume thornton - -

John Alan Callaghan (Resigned 15 march 2011) - -

nzF securitisation limited
mark hume thornton - -

John Alan Callaghan (Resigned 15 march 2011) - -

nzF mortgages limited
mark hume thornton - -

John Alan Callaghan (Resigned 15 march 2011) - -

new zealand mortgage Finance limited
mark hume thornton (Appointed 15 march 2011) - -

John Alan Callaghan (Resigned 15 march 2011) - -

Approved mortgage brokers limited
mark hume thornton (Appointed 15 march 2011) - -

John Alan Callaghan (Resigned 15 march 2011) - -

Finance direct limited (sold 30 march 2011)
wayne Darrin Croad 134 145

Richard Alan waddel (Resigned 17 September 2010) 3 9

Craig Irving Alexander (Appointed 23 July 2010) 23 -

John Francis henderson (Appointed 31 December 2010) 3 -

Peter Karl Christopher huljich - -

mark hume thornton (Appointed 30 November 2010) - -

John Alan Callaghan (Resigned 31 December 2010) - -

696 697
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Employees
the number of employees, other than Directors, within the Company and Group receiving remuneration and benefits above $100,000, 
as is required to be disclosed in accordance with Section 211(g) of the Companies Act 1993, is indicated in the following table:

2011 2010

number number

nzF money limited
$100,000 - $109,999 - 1

$110,000 - $119,999 1 1

$120,000 - $129,999 - 1

$130,000 - $139,999 - 1

$140,000 - $149,999 2 1

$150,000 - $159,999 1 1

$160,000 - $169,999 - -

$170,000 - $179,999 - -

$180,000 - $189,999 1 -

Directors’ Shareholdings

director holder number 

of shares

John Alan Callaghan (Resigned 15 march 2011) Bluewater Corporation limited 17,951,218

Pat Redpath O’Connor hillview trust 16,910,002

mark hume thornton Colsam trust 9,095,514

Peter Karl Christopher huljich Best Investments limited 5,768,622

Peter Karl Christopher huljich E A huljich Family trust 1,122,859

Peter Karl Christopher huljich Peter Karl Christopher huljich 1,007,667

Richard Alan waddel (Resigned 31 December 2010) Richard waddel Investments limited 36,000

Jeffrey Albert Barkwill (Resigned 22 September 2010) Jeffrey Albert Barkwill 26,000

Interested Transactions
the Directors have disclosed the following transactions with the Company and Group:

interested transactions 
Peter Karl Christopher huljich is a beneficial shareholder in huljich wealth management (New Zealand) limited. NZF Group limited 
and mike Pero mortgages limited distribute the huljich KiwiSaver Scheme using the NZF SuperKiwi and mike Pero Saver brands. 
huljich wealth management (New Zealand) limited is the Funds management provider and pays upfront and trail commission to 
NZF Group limited and mike Pero mortgages limited, of which $110,000 was received during the year ended 31 march 2011 (2010: 
$272,000).    

Pat Redpath O’Connor had $1,800,000 invested in secured debenture stock issued by NZF money limited during the year ended 31 
march 2011 (2010: $1,800,000) on which interest of $121,205 (2010: $98,946) was paid. At 31 march 2011, $1,400,000 (2010: $1,800,000) 
of secured debenture stock was held by Pat Redpath O’Connor in NZF money limited.    

Pat Redpath O’Connor provided NZF money limited with a term funding facility of $2,300,000 during the year ended 31 march 2011 
(2010: $nil) on which interest of $82,783 (2010: $nil) was paid. At 31 march 2011, $2,300,000 was owed to Pat Redpath O’Connor by NZF 
money limited.

there were no other transactions during the year with interested or related parties.
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Interested Transactions (Continued)
directors’ Remuneration
Remuneration details of Directors are provided above. 

indemnification and insurance of officers and directors 
the Company indemnifies Directors and Executive Officers of the Group against all liabilities which arise out of the performance of 
their normal duties as Directors or Executive Officers, unless the liability relates to conduct involving lack of good faith. to manage 
this risk, the Group has indemnity insurance. the total cost of this insurance expensed during the financial year was $129,967 (2010: 
$33,775). 

share transactions 
No Directors acquired or disposed of any Ordinary Shares in the Company during the year.

directors’ loans 
there were no loans made by the Company or Group to Directors. 
the Board received no notices during the year from Directors requesting to use Company information received in their capacity as 
Directors which would not otherwise have been available to them.

Auditors
During the year the Group paid fees of $237,000 (2010: $312,000) for audit related services to the auditors, Grant thornton. In 
accordance with Section 200 of the Companies Act 1993, the auditors, Grant thornton, continue in office.

donations 
there were no donations paid during the year (2010: $nil).

directors’ declaration 
In the opinion of the Directors of NZF Group limited, the financial statements and notes, on pages 19 to 80:

•  Comply with New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practice and give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Company and Group as at 31 march 2011 and the results of their operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date.

•  have been prepared using appropriate accounting policies, which have been consistently applied and supported by reasonable 
judgements and estimates.

the Directors believe that proper accounting records have been kept which enable, with reasonable accuracy, the determination of the 
financial position of the Company and the Group and facilitate compliance of the financial statements with the Financial Reporting Act 
1993.

the Directors consider that they have taken adequate steps to safeguard the assets of the Company and the Group, and to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities. Internal control procedures are also considered to be sufficient to provide reasonable assurance 
as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements.

the Directors are pleased to present the financial statements of NZF Group limited for the year ended 31 march 2011. 

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors who approved this annual report for issue on 24 June 2011.

_______________________                                                          _______________________
mark hume thornton                                                                        pat Redpath o’connor
Executive Director /Chief Executive Officer                                 Non-Executive Director
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Shareholder Information
for the year ended 31 March 2011

shareholders
As at 31 march 2011 there were 435 shareholders. 

share issues
33,290,954 ordinary shares were issued on 15 march 2011 to capital note holders that elected to receive ordinary shares on the 
maturity date of the capital note issue.

shareholder details
the ordinary shares of NZF Group limited are listed on the NZx.

the information in the disclosures below has been taken from the Company’s registers as at 31 march 2011: 

20 largest shareholders

name Fully paid ordinary

number shares

%

Bluewater Corporation limited 17,951,218 16.33%

Robert Norman Burnes, Pat Redpath O’Connor & Kay O’Connor for hillview trust 16,910,002 15.38%

lynton Ross Campbell, Dennis michael Graham & mark hume thornton for Colsam trust 9,095,514 8.27%

Barbara Charlotte thornton & Sw trust Services limited 7,834,488 7.13%

Best Investments limited 5,768,622 5.25%

FNZ Custodians limited 4,277,392 3.89%

w Custodians limited 4,098,360 3.73%

David Burton Gibson 3,168,934 2.88%

New Zealand Central Securities 2,401,577 2.18%

walter mick George yovich & Jeanette Julia yovich 2,216,934 2.02%

ted Burak 1,890,000 1.72%

Kim Nigel lyons, Fiona Patricia lyons & Christopher John Davis 1,667,917 1.52%

Christopher Peter huljich & Colin Gordon Powell 1,122,859 1.02%

Peter Karl Christopher huljich 1,007,667 0.92%

Ian leonard hobbs 983,606 0.89%

macleay Investments limited 910,492 0.83%

John Albert Galt 819,672 0.75%

John michael torney Greene 819,672 0.75%

margaret Dorothea Greene 819,672 0.75%

Small Family holdings limited 819,672 0.75%

total 84,584,270 76.96%
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Shareholder Information (Continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2011

distribution of equity securities

size of holdings  shareholders Fully paid ordinary

As at 31 march 2011 number % number shares

%

1 – 9,999 189 43.45 712,569 0.65

10,000 – 49,999 133 30.57 2,419,154 2.20

50,000 – 99,999 27 6.21 1,844,391 1.68

100,000 – 199,999 27 6.21 3,875,878 3.52

200,000 – 499,999 29 6.67 9,858,427 8.97

500,000 – 999,999 16 3.68 11,835,719 10.76

Over 1,000,000 14 3.21 79,411,484 72.22

total 435 100.00% 109,957,622 100.00%

substantial security holders 
Pursuant to Section 26 of the Securities markets Act 1988, details of substantial security holders and their total relevant interests as 
per their most recent notices are: 

name number Record date of

of shares date notice

Bluewater Corporation limited 17,951,218 27 December 2006 27 December 2006

Robert Norman Burnes, Pat Redpath O’Connor & Kay 
O’Connor for hillview trust

16,910,002 6 October 2004 6 October 2004

lynton Ross Campbell, Dennis michael Graham & mark 
hume thornton for Colsam trust

9,095,514 23 June 2006 23 June 2006

Barbara Charlotte thornton & Sw trust Services limited 7,834,488 4 August 2006 4 August 2006

Best Investments limited 5,768,622 14 August 2007 14 August 2007

Best Investments limited 5,768,622 15 march 2011 5 April 2011

Peter Karl Christopher huljich 1,007,667 15 march 2011 5 April 2011

Robert Norman Burnes, Pat Redpath O’Connor & Kay 
O’Connor  for hillview trust 16,910,002 15 march 2011 6 April 2011

shareholder enquiries
Shareholders should send changes of address to link market Services limited at the address noted in the Company Directory on page 
81. Notification must be in writing. Questions relating to shareholdings should also be addressed to link market Services limited. For 
information about the Group please contact the Company at the Registered Office by sending an e-mail to info@nzf.co.nz or visit the 
website www.nzf.co.nz. 

Announcement and Reporting to shareholders
the Company has established an e-mail list of Shareholders that want to receive announcements and reports made by NZF Group 
limited to the NZx. Announcements and reports are e-mailed to Shareholders who wish to receive them shortly after they are 
released. this will include the Annual meeting addresses, Annual Reports and Interim Reports. If you want to be added to this listing 
please e-mail registry@nzf.co.nz and advise us of your preferred e-mail address. your e-mail details will be kept confidential.

Announcements are also posted on our website www.nzf.co.nz normally a day after they are released. 



Role of the board
the Board’s primary 
objective is the enhancement 
of Shareholder value by 
following appropriate 
strategies and ensuring 
effective and innovative use 
of available Group resources. 
the Board is responsible 
for the management, 
supervision and direction 
of the Group. Day-to-day 

management of the Group is 
delegated to the Group Chief 
Executive Officer.

board meetings
the Board normally meets 
eleven times each year 
for scheduled meetings. 
Additional meetings are 
held where specific matters 
require attention between 
scheduled meetings. 

SOUND 
GOVERNANCE
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the Board of NZF Group limited is committed to acting 
with integrity and expects high standards of behaviour and 
accountability from all its officers and staff. the Board 
recognises the need to continue to enhance its Governance 
Standards in line with developing best practice. In so doing, 
the Board has considered standards, guidelines and principles 
published by a range of interested parties in New Zealand and 
Internationally. the Governance Principles adopted by the Board 
are designed to meet best practice. Generally NZF Group limited 
follows the NZx Corporate Governance Best Practice Code, 
except that there is no Nominations Committee. the Board has 
reviewed those Rules, Principles and Guidelines and is taking 
progressive steps to improve the Governance Systems and 
Processes by reference to them.  

coRpoRAte GoveRnAnce
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Board meetings are used 
to monitor, challenge, 
develop and fully understand 
business and operational 
issues. 

composition of the board
the Constitution provides 
that there will be no less 
than three and not more 
than nine Directors. NZx 
requirements are that at 
least two Directors, or 
one-third, are Independent 
Directors. the Board 
currently consists of two 
Independent Directors 
including the Chairman.

Criteria for Board Membership
when a vacancy arises, the 
Board will identify candidates 
with a mix of capabilities 
and perspectives considered 
necessary for the Board to 
carry out its responsibilities 
effectively. A Director 
appointed by the Board must 

stand for election at the next 
Annual meeting. At each 
Annual meeting one-third 
of Directors (excluding the 
Chief Executive Officer) must 
retire by rotation. Retiring 
Directors are eligible for re-
election.

board committees
the Board has established an 
Audit & Risk Committee and 
a Remuneration Committee.

the Audit & Risk Committee 
operates under a Charter 
approved by the Board 
and is accountable to the 
Board for: the business 
relationship with, and the 
independence of, external 
auditors; the reliability 
and appropriateness of the 
disclosure of the financial 
statements and external 
financial communication; 
and the maintenance of 
an effective business risk 

management framework 
including compliance and 
internal controls. the 
Audit & Risk Committee is 
comprised of Non-Executive 
Directors. the Chairman of 
the Committee is 
Craig Irving Alexander.

the Remuneration 
Committee operates under 
a Charter approved by the 
Board and is accountable 
to the Board for: obtaining 
assurance that the Group’s 
human resources policies 
and practices support 
achievement of the 
Group’s goals; overseeing 
appointments of the Chief 
Executive Officer, roles 
reporting to the Chief 
Executive Officer, and key 
professional advisors in the 
area of legal, tax and Public 
Relations; and overseeing 
the development of key 
employees.
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the Remuneration 
Committee recommends to 
the Board the level of the 
Chief Executive Officer’s 
remuneration package.

the Remuneration 
Committee is comprised of 
Non-Executive Directors. 
the Chairman of the 
Committee is Pat Redpath 
O’Connor.

trading in shares
NZF Group limited has a 
detailed Insider trading 
Policy applying to all 
Directors and employees. A 
procedure must be followed 
to obtain consent to trade in 
the Company’s shares at all 
times. Generally trading is 
permitted from the release 
of interim results until 
28 February and from the 
release of the final results 
until 31 August. Directors 
and employees are not able 

to trade in Company shares, 
if they are in possession of 
unpublished price sensitive 
information.

the Company reinforces 
these measures by 
requiring that anyone 
designated as having the 
opportunity to access price 
sensitive information can 
transact in the Company’s 
securities only with the 
prior approval of the 
Company Secretary and 
Chairman.

make timely and balanced 
disclosure
the Company has in place 
procedures designed to 
ensure compliance with the 
NZx listing Rules such that:

•   All investors have equal 
and timely access to 
material information 
concerning the Company, 

including its financial 
situation, performance, 
ownership and 
governance.

•   Company announcements 
are factual and presented 
in a clear and balanced 
way.

Accountability for 
compliance with 
disclosure obligations 
is with the Company 
Secretary. Significant 
market announcements, 
including the preliminary 
announcement of the 
half year and full year 
results, and the financial 
statements for those 
periods, require review by 
the Audit & Risk Committee 
and the Board. 

leAdeRship is the cApAcity to tRAnslAte vision into ReAlity.  Henry Miller
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Grant Thornton New Zealand Audit 
Partnership 
L4, Grant Thornton House 
152 Fanshawe Street 
PO Box 1961 
Auckland 1140 
 

T +64 (0)9 308 2570 
F +64 (0)9 309 4892 
www.grantthornton.co.nz 

 

  

 
 
 

 

 

 
To the Shareholders of NZF Group Limited 

 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the parent and group financial statements of NZF Group Limited on 
pages 19 to 80, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2011, the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.   

Directors’ Responsibilities 
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of parent and group financial statements 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and that give a 
true and fair view of the matters to which they relate, and for such internal control as the 
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the parent and group financial statements 
based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing (New Zealand).  Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the parent 
and group financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the parent and group financial statements.  The procedures selected depend 
on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of 
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the matters to which they relate in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.   

Independent Auditor’s Report 

 
 



Chartered Accountants 
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd 

 

2 

 

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates, as well as evaluating the presentation of the parent 
and group financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion.  

Other than in our capacity as auditor we have no relationship with, or interests in NZF 
Group Limited. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 19 to 80: 

• comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;  

• comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the parent and group as at 31 
March 2011 and their financial performance and their cash flows for the year ended 
on that date. 

 
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Matters 

Per the Financial Reporting Act 1993: 

• we have obtained all the information and explanations that we have required; 

• in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by NZF Group Limited 
as far as appears from an examination of those records. 

 
 
 

Grant Thornton New Zealand Audit Partnership 
Auckland, New Zealand 
24 June 2011 
 

 
 

Chartered Accountants
Member of Grant Thornton International Ltd
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Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest income 3 20,294 23,580 240 332

Interest expense 3 (16,773) (19,650) (1,917) (1,952)

net interest income 3 3,521 3,930 (1,677) (1,620)

Fee and commission income 4 5,596 7,102 66 216

Fee and commission expense 4 (3,709) (4,456) (30) (163)

net fee and commission income 4 1,887 2,646 36 53

Gains on financial instruments at fair value 5 723 2,269                     -                     - 

Other income 6 141 205 3,500                     - 

    

total operating income 6,272 9,050 1,859 (1,567)

Net impairment losses 7 (5,795) (6,765) (858) (6,593)

Operating expenses and staff costs 8 (5,530) (5,992) (647) (626)

    

(loss)/profit before income tax (5,053) (3,707) 354 (8,786)

Income tax benefit/(expense) 10 1,240 (971) 559 658

    

(loss)/profit from continuing operations 14 (3,813) (4,678) 913 (8,128)

(loss)/profit from discontinued operations (after tax) 14 (1,067) 117                     -                     - 

(loss)/profit for the year (4,880) (4,561) 913 (8,128)

Attributable to:

Non-controlling interest (113) 35                     -                     - 

Equity holders of the Company (4,767) (4,596) 913 (8,128)

(4,880) (4,561) 913 (8,128)

earnings per share: cents cents

per share per share

basic earnings per share:

From continuing operations 13 (4.87) (6.10)

From discontinued operations 13 (1.22) 0.11

total basic earnings per share 13 (6.09) (5.99)

diluted earnings per share:

From continuing operations 13 (4.87) (6.10)

From discontinued operations 13 (1.22) 0.11

total diluted earnings per share 13 (6.09) (5.99)

the attached notes form part of and are to be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 March 2011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 March 2011

Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(loss)/profit for the year (4,880) (4,561) 913 (8,128)

other comprehensive income:

(losses)/gains on cash flow hedges arising during the year (686) 713                     -                     - 

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income                     -                     -                     -                     - 

other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (686) 713                     -                     - 

total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (5,566) (3,848) 913 (8,128)

Attributable to:

Non-controlling interest (113) 35                     -                     - 

Equity holders of the Company (5,453) (3,883) 913 (8,128)

(5,566) (3,848) 913 (8,128)

the attached notes form part of and are to be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 March 2011

Attributable to equity holders of the company

hedge non-

share Retained Accounting controlling total 

capital earnings Reserve total interest equity

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

GRoup

balance as at 1 April 2009 7,503 11,306 (1,238) 17,571 515 18,086

total comprehensive income                 - (4,596) 713 (3,883) 35 (3,848)

Cash drawn by non-controlling 
interests in mPmh limited                     - 

                    
- 

                    
- 

                    
- (32) (32)

Equity dividends 12                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 - 

balance as at 31 march 2010 7,503 6,710 (525) 13,688 518 14,206

balance as at 1 April 2010 7,503 6,710 (525) 13,688 518 14,206

total comprehensive income                - (4,767) (686) (5,453) (113) (5,566)

Issue of ordinary shares  
on conversion of unsecured  
capital notes 24/26 2,031

                    
- 

                    
- 2,031

                    
- 2,031

Share issue expenses 26 (9)                 -                - (9)                  - (9)

Non-controlling interest reduction 
on sale of shares in Finance Direct 
limited 20                     - 

                    
- 

                    
- 

                    
- (399) (399)

Cash drawn by non-controlling 
interests in mPmh limited                     - 

                    
- 

                    
- 

                    
- (3) (3)

Equity dividends 12                -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 - 

balance as at 31 march 2011 9,525 1,943 (1,211) 10,257 3 10,260

compAny

balance as at 1 April 2009 7,503 3,273 - 10,776 - 10,776

total comprehensive income                     - (8,128)
                    

- (8,128)
                    

- (8,128)

Equity dividends 12                     - 
                    

- 
                    

- 
                    

- 
                    

- 
                    

- 

balance as at 31 march 2010 7,503 (4,855)                     - 2,648                     - 2,648

balance as at 1 April 2010 7,503 (4,855)
                    

- 2,648
                    

- 2,648

total comprehensive income                 - 913                 - 913                  - 913

Issue of ordinary shares  
on conversion of unsecured  
capital notes 24/26 2,031

                    
- 

                    
- 2,031

                    
- 2,031

Share issue expenses 26 (9)                    -                    - (9)                    - (9)

Equity dividends 12  -    - - -                   -                    - 

balance as at 31 march 2011 9,525 (3,942)                    - 5,583                    - 5,583

the attached notes form part of and are to be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements

nature and purpose of Reserves 
Hedge Accounting Reserve 
the hedge accounting reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging 
instruments related to hedged transactions that have not yet settled.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 March 20011

Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5,656 15,346 106 802

Derivative assets held for risk management 15                     - 47                     -                     - 

loans and advances to customers 16 227,096 264,989                     -                     - 

trade and other receivables 17 1,201 1,400 10,075 6,269

Current tax assets 100 362 18 673

Property, plant and equipment 18 313 531                     -                     - 

Intangible assets 19 9,105 9,721                     -                     - 

Investment in subsidiary undertakings and jointly  
controlled entities 20                     -                     - 13,484 15,196

Deferred tax asset 21 2,193 1,005 619 60

Other assets 22 3,015 3,212 48 260

total assets 248,679 296,613 24,350 23,260

liabilities

trade and other payables 23 1,809 2,265 748 562

Derivative liabilities held for risk management 15 1,468 1,552                     -                     - 

loans and borrowings 24 235,006 278,194 18,019 20,050

Other liabilities 25 136 396                     -                     - 

total liabilities 238,419 282,407 18,767 20,612

net assets 10,260 14,206 5,583 2,648

equity

Share capital 26 9,525 7,503 9,525 7,503

Retained earnings 1,943 6,710 (3,942) (4,855)

hedge accounting reserve (1,211) (525)                     -                     - 

total equity attributable to equity holders of the company 10,257 13,688 5,583 2,648

Non-controlling interest 3 518                     -                     - 

total equity 10,260 14,206 5,583 2,648

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors who approved these financial statements for issue on 24 June 2011.

________________________________  ________________________________

mark hume thornton pat Redpath o’connor
Executive Director/Chief Executive Officer Non-Executive Director 

the attached notes form part of and are to be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 March 2011

Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

cash Flows from operating Activities

Interest received 20,646 23,988 240 332

Interest paid (17,011) (20,006) (1,955) (1,949)

Fee and commission income received 6,193 7,993 66 216

Other income received 163 (30)                     -                     - 

Dividends received                     -                     - 3,500                     - 

Payments to suppliers and employees (10,271) (11,836) (428) (527)

taxation received 242 99 655 449

Net decrease/(increase) in loans and advances to customers 1(t) 29,230 (5,279)                     -                     - 

Net increase in loans to subsidiary undertakings 1(t)                     -                     - (3,622) (3,261)

Increase in loans to jointly controlled entities (50)                     -                     -                     - 

Net (increase)/decrease in franchisee loans 1(t) (14) 36                     -                     - 

Employee loan repayments 3 3 3 3

net cash Flow from operating Activities 29,131 (5,032) (1,541) (4,737)

cash Flows used in investing Activities

Acquisition of shares in subsidiary undertakings 20                     -                     - (1) (500)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow on sale of investment in Finance Direct 
limited 20 (193)                     - 855                     - 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 18 (20) (52)                     -                     - 

Sale of property, plant and equipment 11                     -                     -                     - 

net cash Flow from investing Activities (202) (52) 854 (500)

cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net (decrease)/increase in term loans 1(t) (82,857) 5,500                     -                     - 

Net increase in secured notes 1(t) 84,618                     -                     -                     - 

Net (decrease)/increase in secured debenture stock 1(t) (40,368) 7,066                     -                     - 

Share issue expenses 26 (9)                     - (9)                     - 

Cash drawn by non-controlling interests (3) (32)                     -                     - 

net cash Flow from Financing Activities (38,619) 12,534 (9)                     - 

    

net (decrease)/increase in cash held (9,690) 7,450 (696) (5,237)

cash balance at start of the year 15,346 7,896 802 6,039

    

cash balance at end of the year 5,656 15,346 106 802

made up as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 5,656 15,346 106 802

the attached notes form part of and are to be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements
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RECONCILIATION OF NET (LOSS)/PROFIT WITH 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
for the year ended 31 March 2011

Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(loss)/profit for the year (4,880) (4,561) 913 (8,128)

Add:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 184 218                     -                     - 

loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 21 29                     -                     - 

Increase/(decrease) in collective and specific loan allowances 1,865 (1,648)                     -                     - 

Bad debts written off 3,896 650                     -                     - 

Impairment loss on other assets 19/20 690 6,975 858 6,593

deduct:

Net decrease/(increase) in loans and advances to customers 1(t) 29,230 (5,279)                     -                     - 

Net increase in derivative assets and liabilities held for risk 
management 1(t) (723) (2,553)                     -                     - 

Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable and other assets 388 225 (3,594) (3,073)

(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable and other liabilities (407) (209) 186 80

Decrease/(increase) in current tax assets 260 172 655 (209)

(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax asset (1,393) 949 (559)                     - 

    

net cash Flow from operating Activities 29,131 (5,032) (1,541) (4,737)

major non-cash transactions

1. On 15 march 2011, $2,030,750 of unsecured capital notes were converted into issued ordinary share capital and $18,019,250 of unsecured 
capital notes were rolled over and extended for a further 5 year term maturing on 15 march 2016 (see Notes 24 and 26).

2. During the year ended 31 march 2011, $380,000 (2010: $840,000) of interest was accrued on impaired loans and advances, as required by 
NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement, in order to recognise the discount applied using the effective interest rate 
method to future cash receipts expected on those loans and advances (see Note 16).  

the attached notes form part of and are to be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2011

(a) General information

the reporting entity is NZF Group limited (the “Company”).  It is profit oriented and incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand.  the 
Group comprising the Company and its subsidiary undertakings, controlled entities and jointly controlled entities is a reporting entity 
for the purposes of the Financial Reporting Act 1993 and its financial statements comply with that Act.  the Company and the Group is 
an Issuer as defined by the Securities Act 1978 and the Securities Regulations 2009.  the principal activities of the Group are stated in 
accounting policy 1(f) below.

(b) basis of preparation

the consolidated financial statements for the Group have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, as modified by the fair value 
measurement of available for sale financial assets, financial instruments held at fair value through profit or loss and all derivative 
contracts.  Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets.

the Group meets the definition of a Financial Institution under NZ IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and is subject to the 
specific additional disclosure requirements applicable to Financial Institutions defined in Appendix E of NZ IFRS 7.

the Consolidated Income Statement discloses the net interest income, net fee and commission income and other income in line with 
the Income Statement presentation used by other Financial Institutions.  

the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position discloses assets and liabilities in order of their liquidity in line with the Statement 
of Financial Position presentation used by other Financial Institutions.  where it is not evident from the financial statement line item, 
disclosure of the current/non-current split has been made in the maturity Profile of Financial Assets and Financial liabilities (see Note 
29) or the relevant note.

the consolidated financial statements for the Group are presented in New Zealand dollars ($), which is the functional currency of 
all entities within the Group.  All financial information presented in New Zealand dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand 
dollars ($’000).

(c) statement of compliance

the consolidated financial statements for the Group have been prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice in New Zealand (“NZ GAAP”) and the requirements of the Companies Act 1993 and the Financial 
Reporting Act 1993.  they comply with New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (“NZ 
IFRS”) and other applicable financial standards, as appropriate for profit-oriented entities.  the consolidated financial 
statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”).

(d) changes in Accounting policies and disclosures

the accounting policies and disclosures adopted are consistent with those used in the previous financial year except that the Group has 
adopted the following new and amended New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards and interpretations:  

nz iAs 27 consolidated and separate Financial statements (Revised 2008) (effective from 1 july 2009)

NZ IAS 27 has introduced additional changes to the definition of cost and deemed costs, as well as a paragraph on restructuring 
dividends.  NZ IAS 27 requires accounting for a change in ownership by a Group in a subsidiary, whilst still retaining control, to be 
recognised in equity.  Additional disclosure requirements have been added and the amendments to NZ IAS 27 may result in changes 
to the disclosures in the Group’s financial statements.  Other than additional disclosure, the amendments are not expected to have a 
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Standards and interpretations to published standards that are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the Group
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing 
standards have been issued which were not yet effective at the reporting date, and have not been adopted early by the Group.
 
management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policies for the first period 
beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement.  Information on new standards, amendments and interpretations that are 
expected to be relevant to the Group’s financial statements is provided below.  Certain other standards and interpretations have been 
issued but are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

nz iFRs 7 Financial instruments: disclosures (effective from 1 july 2011)

this standard incorporates many of the disclosure requirements previously in NZ IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.  the 
standard applies to risks arising from all financial instruments.  the standard requires disclosure of: 

a) the significance of financial instruments for an entity’s financial position and performance.

1. siGniFicAnt AccountinG policies
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b)  qualitative and quantitative information about exposure to risks arising from financial instruments, including specified minimum 
disclosures about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.  the qualitative disclosures describe management’s objectives, policies 
and processes for managing those risks.  the quantitative disclosures provide information about the extent to which the entity is 
exposed to risk, based on information provided internally to the entity’s key management personnel.  together, these disclosures 
provide an overview of the entity’s use of financial instruments and the exposures to risks they create.

management is still assessing the impact of this standard on the Group.

nz iFRs 9 – Financial instruments: disclosures (Amendments) (effective from 1 january 2013)

this standard is part of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and measurement.  the standard 
applies to financial assets, their classification and measurement.  All financial assets are required to be classified on the basis of 
the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.  
Financial assets are initially recorded at fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, particular 
transaction costs and measured at amortised cost or fair value.  management is still assessing the impact of this standard on the 
Group.

Annual improvements 2010

the Accounting Standards Review Board has issued Improvements for International Financial Reporting Standards 2010.  most of 
these amendments become effective in annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011.  these amendments are not expected to 
have a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

(e) basis of consolidation

the Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Company, NZF Group limited, and its subsidiary 
undertakings and controlled entities as detailed in Note 20 to the financial statements, using the purchase method of accounting. 

Subsidiary undertakings are entities controlled, either directly or indirectly, by the Company.  All material transactions between 
subsidiary undertakings and the Company are eliminated on consolidation.  the results of subsidiary undertakings acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the Consolidated Income Statement from the date of acquisition or to the date of disposal.

Jointly controlled entities are those entities over whose activities the Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement 
requiring unanimous consent for strategic, financial and operating decisions.

Jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the proportionate line by line method.  the consolidated financial statements include 
the Group’s share of income and expenses of jointly controlled entities, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of 
the Group, from the date that joint control commences until the date that joint control ceases.

(f) segment Reporting

For management purposes, the Group is organised into four operating segments, as follows:

Property Finance Division
the Property Finance Division is operated by NZF money limited, which provides property finance to a range of clients for residential 
properties (owner occupied houses), investment properties (houses), commercial and industrial properties, property development 
(houses and quality apartments), rural and farm properties and bare land (residential development land), which is predominantly 
backed by first mortgage security.      

NZF money limited also provides secured business and personal loans to some of its clients and employees.  however, this does not 
form a significant part of that Company’s activities and is therefore not managed and measured separately from its main Property 
Finance activities.  As a result, all financial information relating to NZF money limited has been disclosed within Property Finance 
activities. 

Home Loans Division
the home loans Division comprises NZF homeloans limited, NZF mortgages warehouse A trust, NZF mortgages warehouse B trust 
and NZF mortgages 2010-1 trust.  the principal activity of the home loans Division is to provide residential mortgage customers with 
bank competitive home loans, which are secured by first mortgage security. 

Consumer Finance Division
the Consumer Finance Division comprised the Company’s 70% investment in Finance Direct limited, a consumer based finance 
company, which was sold to the existing minority shareholder on 30 march 2011, following a decision being made by the Board that 
Consumer Finance was not considered to be core to the Group’s operations going forward (see Note 14 and 20).

1. siGniFicAnt AccountinG policies (continued)

(d) changes in Accounting policies and disclosures (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2011
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2011

Financial Services Distribution
NZF Group limited, New Zealand mortgage Finance limited (100% subsidiary undertaking) and mPmh limited (50% jointly controlled 
entity) have developed their own extensive broker networks to distribute a range of financial services products to clients, including 
mortgages, Insurances, Personal loans and Kiwisaver.  whilst the financial services business of all three companies are managed 
and measured independently from one another, their results have been aggregated and shown as a single operating segment, as they 
have similar economic characteristics.  these include the nature of the products and services provided to clients, the types and classes 
of clients to whom services are provided, the distribution methods employed and the regulatory environment within which all three 
businesses operate.   

the principal activity of NZF Group limited is to act as the management and holding company for the NZF Group of Companies.  this 
includes holding the investments in subsidiary undertakings and jointly controlled entities, managing Group cash flow requirements, 
Corporate Governance, Financial Reporting, complying with the NZx listing Rules and dealing with Investor relations.  NZF Group 
limited is funded by Ordinary Share Capital, Retained Earnings and $18,019,250 (2010: $20,050,000) of unsecured Capital Notes 
which are due to mature on 15 march 2016.  Interest is payable on the unsecured Capital Notes at the rate of 6% (2010: 9.75%) per 
annum, quarterly in arrears.  this interest, together with other central operating expenses, assets and liabilities, are not allocated by 
management to the four operating segments when making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment.

management monitors the results of its four operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource 
allocation and performance assessment.  Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss.  Income taxes are 
managed by operating segment due to the number of separate legal and tax entities involved. 

In order to provide a full reconciliation of the Group’s total revenue, total profit/(loss), total assets and total liabilities for each 
accounting period, any revenue, costs, assets and liabilities of NZF Group limited that are not allocated by management to the 
four operating segments have been shown within management & holding Activities.  Goodwill and intangible assets have also been 
allocated by management to the operating segments to which those assets relate. 

All business activities are carried out within New Zealand so there is no geographic segment reporting to management. 

(g) Revenue

Recognition of income

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably 
measured.  the following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

interest income and similar expense

For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, interest income and expense is recorded at the effective interest rate, which 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument, or 
a shorter period where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability.  the calculation takes into account all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment options) and includes any fees or incremental costs that are 
directly attributable to the instrument and are an integral part of the effective interest rate, but not future credit losses.  the adjusted 
carrying amount is calculated based on the original effective interest rate and the change in carrying amount is recorded as interest 
income or expense.

Once the recorded value of a financial asset or a group of financial assets has been reduced due to an impairment loss, interest income 
continues to be recognised using the original effective interest rate applied to the new carrying amount.

the Group recognises interest revenue and establishment fees on an accruals basis when the services are rendered using the effective 
interest rate method.

Fee and commission income

the Group earns fee income from a range of services it provides to customers.  Fee income can be divided into the following 
categories:

Lending/Establishment fees
Fees and direct costs relating to loan origination, financing or restructuring and to loan commitments are deferred and amortised to 
the Consolidated Income Statement over the life of the loan using the effective interest rate method.  lending fees not directly related 
to the origination of a loan are recognised over the period of service.

Commissions and other fees
when commissions or fees relate to specific transactions or events, they are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement 
when the service is provided to the customer.  when they are charged for services provided over a period, they are recognised in the 
Consolidated Income Statement on an accruals basis as the service is provided.

 

1. siGniFicAnt AccountinG policies (continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2011

Brokerage fees
Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party are recognised on completion of 
the underlying transaction.  Fees or components of fees that are linked to certain performance are recognised after fulfilling the 
corresponding criteria.

Payment protection insurance
the Group acts as an agent for payment protection insurance on small business loans and consumer finance loans.  Given the agency 
relationship, under NZ IFRS the income is presented on a net basis rather than on a gross basis.  this means that only the commission 
income is recognised, not the full amount of the insurance premiums offset by the cost to the Group.  the Group recognises the 
estimated liability on payment protection insurance refunds at each reporting date.  the amount of the liability is estimated using 
historical refund data.    

Other income
Other income comprises dividend income, franchise sales, rent receivable and other sundry income.  Dividend income is recorded in 
the Consolidated Income Statement when the right to receive the dividend is established.

(h) Financial instruments

Financial instruments are classified in one of the following categories at initial recognition: Financial Assets at Fair value through 
Profit or loss, held to maturity Investments, loans and Receivables, Available for Sale Financial Assets, Financial liabilities at Fair 
value through Profit or loss and Financial liabilities measured at Amortised Cost.  Furthermore, financial instruments are split 
between derivative and non-derivative financial instruments.

Financial instruments are transacted on a commercial basis to derive an interest yield/cost with terms and conditions having due 
regard to the nature of the transaction and the risks involved.  

Some of these categories require measurement at fair value.  where available, quoted market prices are used as a measure of fair 
value.  Bid prices are used to estimate fair values of assets, whereas offer prices are applied to liabilities.  where quoted market 
prices do not exist, fair values are estimated using present value or other market accepted valuation techniques, using methods and 
assumptions that are based on market conditions and risks existing as at each reporting date.

where the Group has assets and liabilities with offsetting market risk, it uses mid-market prices as a basis for establishing fair values 
for the offsetting risk positions and applies a bid/offer spread adjustment to the net open position as appropriate.

If changes in these assumptions to a reasonably possible alternative would result in a significantly different fair value this has been 
disclosed with a range of possibilities.

Financial Assets and liabilities at Fair value through profit or loss

Assets and liabilities in this category are either held for trading or are managed with other assets and liabilities and are accounted for 
and evaluated on a fair value basis.  Fair value reporting of these assets and liabilities reflects the Group’s risk management process, 
which includes utilising natural offsets where possible and managing overall risks of the portfolio on a trading basis.

upon initial recognition, attributable transaction costs are included in the Consolidated Income Statement when incurred.  Assets 
and liabilities in this category are subsequently measured at fair value, with any changes recognised in the Consolidated Income 
Statement.  

Assets and liabilities in this category include derivative financial instruments to hedge the Group’s exposure to interest rate risks 
arising from financing and investment activities using interest rate swaps as detailed in the Derivative Financial Instruments note 
below.   

held to maturity investments

Assets in this category are recorded upon initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less impairment.

loans and Receivables
 
these assets are recorded upon initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method, less impairment.  this category of Financial Asset includes: 

Loans and advances to customers
these are recorded at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less impairment.

Trade and other receivables
these include accounts receivable, accrued interest on loans and advances to customers, and amounts due from group undertakings, 
less impairment.

1. siGniFicAnt AccountinG policies (continued)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2011

Available for sale Financial Assets

Available for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated to this category or do not qualify for 
inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets.  Assets in this category include cash and cash equivalents that comprise 
cash balances and call deposits.  Assets in this category are measured upon initial recognition at fair value plus transaction costs 
directly attributable to their acquisition.  Subsequently such assets are measured at fair value excluding transaction costs. 

Financial liabilities measured at Amortised cost

this category includes all financial liabilities other than those at Fair value through Profit or loss.  liabilities in this category are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method and include:
 
Loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated 
with the borrowing.  After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method.

Other liabilities
these are recorded at amortised cost.  they represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the 
financial period that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments.  these amounts are unsecured.

derivative Financial instruments

the Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks arising from financing and investment 
activities using interest rate swaps. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is executed, and are subsequently re-measured to 
their fair value at each reporting date.  the fair value of interest rate swaps at the reporting date is determined by discounting the 
future cash flows using the yield curve at reporting date derived from quoted interest rates.  All derivatives are carried as assets when 
fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

the Group documents at the inception of the transaction, the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as 
its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.  the Group also documents its assessment, 
both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in 
offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.  

Changes in the fair value of the derivative hedging instrument designated as a cash flow hedge will be recognised directly in equity 
to the extent that the hedge is effective.  to the extent that the hedge is ineffective, changes in fair value will be recognised in the 
Consolidated Income Statement.  

If the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, then hedge 
accounting will be discontinued.  the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity will remain there until the forecast 
transaction occurs.  when the hedged item is a non-financial asset, the amount recognised in equity will be transferred to the carrying 
amount of the asset when it is recognised.  In other cases the amount recognised in equity will be transferred to the Consolidated 
Income Statement in the same period that the hedged item affects profit or loss.

(i) share capital
 
ordinary shares

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from equity.

(j) property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  In the event that settlement of all or part of the 
purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined by discounting the amounts payable in the future to their present value as at the 
date of acquisition.

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.  when parts 
of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of 
property, plant and equipment.
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subsequent costs

the cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable 
that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably.  the costs of 
the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement as incurred.

depreciation

Depreciation is provided on leasehold improvements, computers and software, office furniture and equipment, and motor vehicles.  
Depreciation is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement to write off the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, less 
any residual value, over its expected useful life, at the following rates:

leasehold Improvements 18% - 26.4% Diminishing value
Computers and Software 14.4% - 48% Diminishing value
Office Furniture and Equipment 11.4% - 60% Diminishing value
motor vehicles   22% - 36% Diminishing value

the useful lives and residual values are reviewed annually and the depreciation recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement 
calculated on a straight line basis would not be materially different from the depreciation recognised using the above rates as allowed 
by the Income tax Act 2004.    

(k) investments in subsidiary undertakings and jointly controlled entities

Investments in subsidiary undertakings and jointly controlled entities are held in the Company’s financial statements at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses.  the carrying amount of the investments is reviewed at each reporting date to determine if there is 
any evidence of impairment.

(l) intangible Assets

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiary undertakings and jointly controlled entities.  It represents the excess of the fair value 
of acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.  It is recognised as an asset 
and not amortised, but tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the goodwill may be impaired, any 
impairment is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Acquisitions prior to 1 April 2006
As part of its transition to NZ IFRS, the Group elected to restate only those business combinations that occurred on or after 1 April 
2006.  In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 April 2006, goodwill represents the amount recognised under previous NZ GAAP.

 
Acquisitions on or after 1 April 2006
For acquisitions on or after 1 April 2006, goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over the Group’s interest in the 
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired.  when the excess of the interest in the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is over cost, it is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income 
Statement.

other intangible assets

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group, which have indefinite useful lives, are measured at cost and not amortised, but 
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the other intangible assets may be impaired, any impairment 
is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.  Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group, which 
have finite useful lives, are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.  Amortisation is 
recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight line basis from the date that they are available for use. 

subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it 
relates.  All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in the Consolidated 
Income Statement when incurred.

software development

the costs of purchasing and developing software for use by the Group are capitalised.  Once the software development is complete and 
in use it will be amortised over its useful economic life.  until the software is in use the Group tests it annually for impairment.
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(m) leased Assets

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic 
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 

(n) Asset Quality

past due Assets

An asset is Past Due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when contractually due.  A 90 Day Past Due Asset is any asset 
which has not been operated by the counterparty within its key terms for at least 90 days and which is not a restructured asset, other 
individually impaired asset, or a financial asset acquired through the enforcement of security.

impaired Assets

Impaired assets consist of restructured assets, assets acquired through the enforcement of security and other impaired assets.

“Restructured asset” means any credit exposure for which:

(a)  the original terms have been changed to grant the counterparty a concession that would not otherwise have been available, due to 
the counterparty’s difficulties in complying with the original terms; and

(b)  the revised terms of the facility are not comparable with the terms of new facilities with comparable risks; and
(c)  the yield on the asset following restructuring is equal to, or greater than, the Group’s average cost of funds, or that a loss is not 

otherwise expected to be incurred.

Assets acquired through the enforcement of security are those assets (primarily real estate) which are legally owned as a result of the 
enforcement of security.

Other impaired assets refers to any credit exposure for which an impairment loss is recognised in accordance with NZ IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and measurement. 

(o) impairment 

impairment of loans and Advances 

losses for impaired loans and advances are recognised immediately when there is objective evidence that impairment of a loan or 
portfolio of loans has occurred.  A loan is considered impaired when management determines that it is probable that all amounts 
owing in accordance with the terms of the original contract will not be collected.  when a loan has been identified as impaired, the 
carrying amount of the loan is decreased by recording specific allowances for the loss to reduce the loan to its estimated recoverable 
amount, which is the present value of expected future cash flows including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate of the loan.

Impairment losses are calculated on individually significant loans and loans assessed collectively.  losses expected from future events 
no matter how likely, are not recognised.

Individually significant loans
At each reporting date, the Group reviews individually significant loans for evidence of impairment.  All relevant information, including 
the economic situation, solvency of the customer/guarantor, enforceability of guarantees, current security values and the time value of 
future cash flows are taken into account in determining individual impairment allowances.

Collectively assessed loans
At each reporting date, loans that have been individually assessed but no objective evidence of impairment existed and loans that are 
not considered individually significant are pooled in similar credit risk groups.  these groups are then assessed for impairment based 
on historical loss experience of assets with similar risk characteristics.  the historical loss experience is then adjusted for the impact 
of current observable data.

management regularly reviews and adjusts the methodology and assumptions for impairment testing as improved analysis becomes 
available to minimise any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Loan write offs
loans are normally written off, either partially or in full, when there is no realistic prospect of recovery of these amounts and, for 
collateralised loans, when the proceeds from realising the security has been received.
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impairment of trade and other Receivables 

the recoverable amount of the Group’s trade and other receivables carried at amortised cost is calculated on an undiscounted basis 
due to their short term nature.  At each reporting date, the Group reviews individually significant trade and other receivables for 
evidence of impairment.  For trade and other receivables which are not significant on an individual basis, collective impairment is 
assessed on a portfolio basis based on numbers of days overdue, and taking into account the historical loss experience in portfolios 
with a similar amount of days overdue.

impairment of non-Financial Assets

the carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  For goodwill and intangible 
assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, recoverable amount is estimated at each reporting date.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are 
recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. 

the recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.  In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased 
or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(p) provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated 
reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date.  If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the liability.

the increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised in finance costs. If economic benefits required to settle a 
provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that recovery 
will be received and the amount of the receivable can be reliably measured.

(q) expense Recognition

All expenses are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement on an accruals basis.

(r) employee benefits

short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.

A provision is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can 
be estimated reliably.

1. siGniFicAnt AccountinG policies (continued)



<< 33 >>   NZF ANNUAL REPORT 2011

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2011

(s) income tax

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax expense is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  Deferred tax is not recognised for 
the following temporary differences:  the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and differences relating to investments in 
subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent that they probably will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  Deferred tax is 
measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

In principle deferred tax liabilities are recognised from taxable temporary timing differences.  Deferred tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences and unused tax 
losses and tax credits can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Company 
has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities.

(t) cash Flows
  
the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows has been prepared using the direct approach.  the following are the definitions used in the 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows:

Cash and cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Operating activities are the principal revenue-producing activities of the Group and other activities that are not investing or financing 
activities.

Investing activities are the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other investments not included in cash and cash 
equivalents.

Financing activities are activities that result in changes in the size and composition of the contributed equity and borrowings of the 
Group.

In accordance with paragraph 24 of NZ IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, cash receipts and payments shown under the following 
headings in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows have been disclosed on a net basis:

(a) Net decrease/(increase) in loans and advances to customers;
(b) Net increase in loans to subsidiary undertakings;
(c) Net increase in franchisee loans;
(d) Net increase in derivative assets and liabilities held for risk management; 
(e) Net (decrease)/increase in term loans;
(f) Net increase in secured notes;
(g) Net (decrease)/increase in secured debenture stock.

the Group manages its ongoing day to day lending, cash flow and funding requirements on a net basis and believes that the 
disclosure of cash receipts and payments on a net basis for the above items provides users of the financial statements with a better 
understanding on how the Group has managed its cash flows during the year.  In addition, the Group’s term loan facilities typically 
roll over on a monthly basis and in the Directors’ view disclosure of the gross amounts of these rollovers would provide no additional 
insight to the users of the financial statements.           
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the Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with NZ IFRS, the application of which often requires 
judgements to be made by management when formulating the Group’s financial position and results.  under NZ IFRS, the Directors 
are required to adopt those accounting policies most appropriate to the Group’s circumstances for the purpose of presenting fairly the 
Group’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows.

In determining and applying accounting policies, judgement is often required in respect of items where the choice of specific policy, 
accounting estimate or assumption to be followed could materially affect the reported results or net asset position of the Group should 
it later be determined that a different choice would be more appropriate.

management considers the accounting estimates and assumptions discussed below to be its critical accounting estimates and, 
accordingly, provides an explanation of each below.

the discussion below should also be read in conjunction with the Group’s disclosure of significant NZ IFRS accounting policies, which 
is provided in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, “Significant Accounting Policies”.

management has discussed its critical accounting estimates and associated disclosures with the Company’s Audit & Risk Committee.

impairment reviews 

Asset recoverability is an area involving management judgement, requiring assessment as to whether the carrying value of assets 
can be supported by the net present value of future cash flows derived from such assets using cash flow projections which have been 
discounted at an appropriate rate.  In calculating the net present value of the future cash flows, certain assumptions are required to be 
made in respect of highly uncertain matters, as noted below.

In accordance with NZ IFRS, management undertakes an annual test for impairment for goodwill, its indefinite life assets and 
intangible assets not yet available for use.  Indefinite life assets include the mike Pero mortgages Group brands which the Directors 
consider have an indefinite useful life, as mike Pero mortgages continues to be the most recognised mortgage Broking name in New 
Zealand and there is continual substantial ongoing investment in its brands.  

For both financial and non-financial assets with a finite life, the Company and Group tests for impairment if any events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these types of asset may not be recoverable.

Goodwill

Goodwill only arises in business combinations.  the amount of goodwill initially recognised is dependent on the allocation of the 
purchase price to the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.  the determination of the fair value of 
the assets and liabilities is based, to a considerable extent, on management’s judgement.

NZ IFRS requires that goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually.  

to determine if goodwill is impaired the carrying value of the identified Cash Generating unit (“CGu”) to which the goodwill is 
allocated, including the allocated goodwill, is compared to its recoverable amount.  Recoverable amount in these circumstances being 
defined as the higher of the CGus fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.  value in use is the present value of expected future 
cash flows from the CGu.  

Goodwill has been allocated to two separate CGus: mPmh limited and New Zealand mortgage Finance limited because this is the 
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management reporting purposes.  In determining the recoverable amount 
of each CGu the value in use calculation is based on a discounted cash flow approach. these calculations use pre-tax cash flow 
projections based on financial budgets approved by the Board covering a 5 year period.  

Determination of appropriate cash flows and discount rates for the calculation of value in use is subjective and requires a number of 
assumptions and estimates to be made, including growth in EBItDA (“Earnings Before Interest, tax, Depreciation and Amortisation”), 
timing and quantum of future capital expenditure, long term growth rates and the selection of discount rates to reflect the risks 
involved.  

In determining the discount rate, judgement was applied in comparing companies and transactions, particularly with respect to the 
risk of business, geographic location, growth prospects, riskiness of earnings and the size of the overall business.  
 
Other factors taken into account when testing goodwill for impairment include:

• actual financial performance against budgeted financial performance,
• any material unfavourable operational factors and regulatory factors, and
• any material unfavourable economic outlook and market competitive factors.

the key assumptions made in determining the value in use calculations are included in Note 19. Changing the assumptions selected by 
management, in particular the discount rate and growth rate assumptions used in the cash flow projections, could significantly affect 
the Group’s impairment evaluation and, hence, results.  
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Goodwill impairment testing undertaken at 31 march 2011 did not indicate that there had been any further impairment in the amount 
of goodwill allocated to the mPmh limited CGu following the impairment loss of $6,975,000 that was accounted for as at 31 march 
2010.  Goodwill impairment testing undertaken at 31 march 2011 and 31 march 2010 did not indicate that goodwill allocated to the New 
Zealand mortgage Finance limited CGu had been impaired.

brand value

the mike Pero Brand represents an indefinite lived intangible asset.  Such assets must be tested annually for impairment as with 
goodwill.  

IAS 36 requires that an entity first test individual (identifiable intangible) assets for impairment, then test the goodwill.

Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independently of those from other assets or groups of assets.  If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash 
generating unit to which the asset belongs unless either;

• the asset’s Fair value less Cost to Sell (FvlCS) is higher than the carrying amount, or
• the assets value In use  (vIu) can be estimated to be close to its FvlCS and FvlCS can be determined (para 22)

In our view the Brand does not generate cash inflows that are largely independently of those from other assets or groups of assets.  
mPmh has assessed recoverable amount at the level of the CGu (to which the Brand (and Goodwill) have been allocated) based on a 
calculation of vIu.  the vIu test presented is NOt a valuation of the Brand, and is a valuation of the CGu.

impairment losses on loans and advances

An impairment allowance is established if there is objective evidence that a loan is impaired.  A loan is considered impaired when 
management determines that it is probable that all amounts due according to the original contractual terms will not be collected.  
when a loan has been identified as impaired, the carrying amount of the loan is decreased by recording specific allowances for the loss 
to reduce the loan to its estimated recoverable amount, which is the present value of expected future cash flows including amounts 
recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted at the original effective interest rate of the loan.

there are two methods used in assessing loans for impairment, including specific loan assessment and collective loan assessment.  
At each reporting date the Group reviews individually significant loans for evidence of impairment.  All relevant information, including 
the economic situation, solvency of the customer/guarantor, enforceability of guarantees, current security values and the time value of 
future cash flows are taken into account in determining individual allowances.

At each reporting date loans that have been individually assessed but no objective evidence of impairment existed and loans that are 
not considered individually significant are pooled in similar credit risk groups.  these groups are then assessed for impairment based 
on historical loss experience of assets with similar risk characteristics.  the historical loss experience is then adjusted for the impact 
of current observable data.

management regularly reviews and adjusts the methodology and assumptions for impairment testing as improved analysis becomes 
available to minimise any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Fair value estimation

the fair value of interest rate swaps at the reporting date is determined by discounting the future cash flows using the yield curve at 
reporting date derived from quoted interest rates.  the carrying amounts of loans and advances net of impairment allowances are 
assumed to approximate their fair values.  the fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash 
flows at the current market interest rate for similar financial instruments. 

Recognition of deferred tax assets

the recognition of deferred tax assets is based upon whether it is more likely than not that sufficient and suitable taxable profits will 
be available in the future, against which the reversal of temporary differences and unused tax losses and tax credits can be utilised.  
Recognition, therefore, involves judgement regarding the future financial performance of the particular legal entity or tax group in 
which the deferred tax asset has been recognised.

At 31 march 2011, NZF Group limited, NZF money limited, NZF mortgages warehouse B trust and mike Pero Real Estate limited had 
total unrelieved income tax losses carried forward of $3,529,000 (2010: $233,000).  management believes that sufficient and suitable 
taxable profits will be made available by these entities in the future and has accordingly accounted for a deferred tax asset of $988,000 
relating to these unrelieved income tax losses as at 31 march 2011 (2010: $70,000).       
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Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

interest income

loans and advances          19,072           23,485                     -                     - 

Impaired loans and advances            1,515                953                     -                     - 

Intercompany advances                     -                     -               192                284 

Interest from Available for Sale Financial Assets:  
Cash and short term investments               370                297                  48                  48 

total interest income          20,957           24,735               240                332 

Attributable to:

Continuing operations 14          20,294           23,580               240                332 

Discontinued operations 14               663             1,155                     -                     - 

         20,957           24,735               240                332 

interest expense

term loans            8,251           12,988                     -                     - 

Secured notes            3,677                     -                     -                     - 

unsecured capital notes            1,917             1,952            1,917             1,952 

Secured debenture stock            3,147             5,056                     -                     - 

Other similar charges                  52                119                     -                     - 

total interest expense          17,044           20,115            1,917             1,952 

Attributable to:

Continuing operations 14          16,773           19,650            1,917             1,952 

Discontinued operations 14               271                465                     -                     - 

         17,044           20,115            1,917             1,952 

net interest income            3,913             4,620 (1,677) (1,620)

Attributable to:

Continuing operations 14            3,521             3,930 (1,677) (1,620)

Discontinued operations 14               392                690                     -                     - 

           3,913             4,620 (1,677) (1,620)

3. net inteRest income
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4. net Fee And commission income

Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fee and commission income

lending and credit related fee income               980             1,756                     -                     - 

Brokerage income            4,918             5,951                  66                216 

Franchise levies and cost recharges               287                302                     -                     - 

total fee and commission income            6,185             8,009                  66                216 

Attributable to:

Continuing operations 14            5,596             7,102                  66                216 

Discontinued operations 14               589                907                     -                     - 

           6,185             8,009                  66                216 

Fee and commission expense

Brokerage fees            3,807             4,632                  30                163 

total fee and commission expense            3,807             4,632                  30                163 

Attributable to:

Continuing operations 14            3,709             4,456                  30                163 

Discontinued operations 14                  98                176                     -                     - 

           3,807             4,632                  30                163 

net fee and commission income            2,378             3,377                  36                  53 

Attributable to:

Continuing operations 14            1,887             2,646                  36                  53 

Discontinued operations 14               491                731                     -                     - 

           2,378             3,377                  36                  53 

5. GAins on FinAnciAl instRuments At FAiR vAlue

GRoup only 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000

Gains on interest rate swaps held for risk management purposes 723 2,269

Attributable to:

Continuing operations 14               723             2,269 

Discontinued operations 14                     -                     - 

              723             2,269 
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6. otheR income

Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Dividends received from subsidiary undertakings                     -                     -            3,500                     - 

Franchise sales, rent receivable and other income 163 254                     -                     - 

163 254            3,500                     - 

Attributable to:

Continuing operations 14               141                205            3,500                     - 

Discontinued operations 14                  22                  49                     -                     - 

              163                254            3,500                     - 

7. net impAiRment losses

Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

movement in collective loan allowance 16 (241) (44)                     -                     - 

movement in specific loan allowance 16 2,486 (764)                     -                     - 

Bad debts written off 30 3,896 650                     -                     - 

Impairment of goodwill in mPmh limited 19                     -             6,975                     -                     - 

Impairment of investment in mPmh limited 20                     -                     -                     -             6,593 

loss on sale of investment in Finance Direct limited 20                     -                     -               858                     - 

6,141 6,817               858             6,593 

Attributable to:

Continuing operations 14            5,795             6,765                     -             6,593 

Discontinued operations 14/20               346                  52               858                     - 

           6,141             6,817               858             6,593 
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8. opeRAtinG eXpenses And stAFF costs

Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(loss)/profit before income tax includes the following  
expenses:

Executive Directors’ remuneration 514 550                     -                     - 

Non-Executive Directors’ fees 182 147 119 138

Auditors’ remuneration 9 237 312 43 82

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 18 184 218                     -                     - 

loss on sale of property, plant and equipment                  21 29                     -                     - 

leasing and rental costs 276 312                     -                     - 

Insurance costs 136 78 77 21

Personnel costs 2,170 2,291                     -                     - 

marketing and selling costs 533 782                     -                    9 

NZx, share registry, trust and other corporate costs 872 1,239 305 329

Administrative expenses 1,476 1,284 103 47

6,601 7,242 647 626

Attributable to:

Continuing operations 14            5,530             5,992               647                626 

Discontinued operations 14            1,071             1,250                     -                     - 

           6,601             7,242               647                626 

key management compensation included in the above: 

Short-term employee benefits 1,149 1,076                     -                     - 

Attributable to:

Continuing operations            1,015                931                     -                     - 

Discontinued operations               134                145                     -                     - 

           1,149             1,076                     -                     - 

there were no post-employment benefits, other long-term benefits, termination benefits or share based payments made to key man-
agement personnel during the year ended 31 march 2011 (2010: $nil).
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9. AuditoRs’ RemuneRAtion

Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Amounts paid to the auditor for:

Audit related services 237 312 43 82

Other services                     -                     -                     -                     - 

total auditors’ remuneration 237 312 43 82

Attributable to:

Continuing operations               173                240                  43                  82 

Discontinued operations                  64                  72                     -                     - 

              237                312                  43                  82 

10. income tAX (beneFit)/eXpense

Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

income tax

Current year 18 88                     - (658)

Adjustment for prior years                     - (15)                     -                     - 

18 73                     - (658)

deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 21 (1,559) 949 (603)                     - 

Decrease in effective tax rate to 28% (2010: 30%) 21 166                     - 44                     - 

(1,393) 949 (559)                     - 

total tax (benefit)/expense (1,375) 1,022 (559) (658)

Attributable to:

Continuing operations 14 (1,240)                971 (559) (658)

Discontinued operations 14 (135)                  51                     -                     - 

(1,375) 1,022 (559) (658)
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Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(loss)/profit from continuing operations 14 (5,053) (3,707) 354 (8,786)

(loss)/profit from discontinued operations 14 (1,202) 168                     -                     - 

(loss)/profit from operations (6,255) (3,539) 354 (8,786)

tax at the new zealand tax rate of 30% (1,877) (1,062) 106 (2,636)

tax amounts which are not taxable or deductible in 
calculating taxable income:

Non-taxable income                     -                     - (1,050)                     - 

Non-deductible expenses 69 8 24                     - 

loss on sale of investment in Finance Direct limited 207                     - 257                     - 

Impairment of goodwill in mPmh limited                     - 2,093                     -                     - 

Impairment of investment in mPmh limited                     -                     -                     - 1,978

Adjustment for prior years                     - (15)                     -                     - 

Deferred tax:

Decrease in effective tax rate to 28% (2010: 30%) 166                     - 44                     - 

Adjustment for prior years 60 (2) 60                     - 

total tax (benefit)/expense (1,375) 1,022 (559) (658)

At 31 march 2011, NZF Group limited, NZF money limited, NZF mortgages warehouse B trust and mike Pero Real Estate limited had 
total unrelieved income tax losses carried forward of $3,529,000 (2010: $233,000).  management believes that sufficient and suitable 
taxable profits will be made available by these entities in the future and has accordingly accounted for a deferred tax asset of $988,000 
relating to these unrelieved income tax losses as at 31 march 2011 (2010: $70,000).        

the Company is a member of a tax consolidated group that is recognised as a single tax entity for income tax purposes.  Gains and 
losses incurred by the Company are taken into account in calculating the taxable income of the consolidated group.

11. imputAtion cRedit Account

the Company is a member of a tax consolidated group.  the movements in the Imputation Credit Account attributable to the Group and 
Company were as follows:

Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening balance 7,003 7,121 608 128

Income tax (received from)/paid to the IRD (242) (99) (278) 15

Imputation credits lost on sale of investment in Finance Direct 
limited (33)                     -                     -                     - 

Other (debits)/credits                     - (19)                     - 465

Closing balance 6,728 7,003 330 608

12. dividends declARed And pAid 

No dividends were declared and paid relating to the Group’s results for the year ended 31 march 2011 (2010: $nil). 

the prima facie income tax (benefit)/expense on pre-tax accounting (loss)/profit from operations reconciles to the income tax (benefit)/
expense in the consolidated financial statements as follows: 

10. income tAX (beneFit)/eXpense  (continued)
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13. eARninGs peR shARe

GRoup only 2011 2010

cents cents

per share per share

basic earnings per share:

From continuing operations (4.87) (6.10)

From discontinued operations (1.22) 0.11

total basic earnings per share (6.09) (5.99)

diluted earnings per share:

From continuing operations (4.87) (6.10)

From discontinued operations (1.22) 0.11

total diluted earnings per share (6.09) (5.99)

the earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings 
per share are as follows:  

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

loss from continuing operations (3,813) (4,678)

loss from discontinued operations (954) 82

loss for the year attributable to Equity holders of the Company (4,767) (4,596)

2011 2010

no. of no. of

shares shares

‘000 ‘000

Ordinary shares at the start of the year 76,667 76,667

Ordinary shares issued during the year 33,291                     - 

Ordinary shares at the end of the year 109,958 76,667

weighted average number of ordinary shares 78,217 76,667

At 31 march 2011, there were no financial instruments that carried any shareholder dilution rights or 
characteristics (2010: $nil).  Accordingly, basic and diluted earnings per share are identical in both accounting 
periods being reported on. 
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14. seGment inFoRmAtion

the following information has been prepared on a consistent basis for both accounting periods in accordance with NZ IFRS 8 Operating 
Segments.  Inter-segment revenues, assets and liabilities are eliminated on consolidation.  No revenue from transactions with a single 
external customer or counterparty amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue during either accounting period reported on.     

continuing operations: 2011

total eliminations property home Financial management

and Finance loans services & holding

Adjustments division division distribution Activities

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

interest income

From external customers 20,294                      - 4,936 15,300 10 48

From other segments                     - (229) 37                     -                     - 192

20,294 (229) 4,973 15,300 10 240

Interest expense (16,773) 229 (3,010) (12,044) (31) (1,917)

net interest income 3,521                      - 1,963 3,256 (21) (1,677)

Fee and commission income

From external customers 5,596                      - 489 235 4,872                      - 

From other segments                     - (71)                     -                     - 71                      - 

5,596 (71) 489 235 4,943                      - 

Fee and commission expense (3,709) 71 (17) (825) (2,938)                      - 

net fee and commission income 1,887                      - 472 (590) 2,005                      - 

Gains on financial instruments  
at fair value 723                      -                     - 723                     -                      - 

Other income 141                      -                     -                     - 141                      - 

      

total operating income 6,272                      - 2,435 3,389 2,125 (1,677)

Net impairment losses (5,795)                      - (5,485) (310)                     -                      - 

Depreciation and amortisation (198)                      - (35) (19) (144)                      - 

Other operating expenses and staff 
costs (5,332)                      - (2,338) (549) (1,794) (651)

      

(loss)/profit before income tax (5,053)                      - (5,423) 2,511 187 (2,328)

Income tax benefit/(expense) 1,240                      - 1,521 (767) (84) 570

    

(loss)/profit for the year (3,813)                      - (3,902) 1,744 103 (1,758)

total assets 248,679 (24,302) 34,326 204,256 10,049 24,350

total liabilities 238,419 (10,849) 23,626 204,931 1,944 18,767
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14. seGment inFoRmAtion (continued)

continuing operations: 2010

total eliminations property home Financial management

and Finance loans services & holding

Adjustments division division distribution Activities

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

interest income

From external customers 23,580                      - 8,614 14,885 33 48

From other segments                     - (284)                     -                     -                     - 284

23,580 (284) 8,614 14,885 33 332

Interest expense (19,650) 284 (5,945) (12,001) (36) (1,952)

net interest income 3,930                      - 2,669 2,884 (3) (1,620)

Fee and commission income

From external customers 7,102                      - 838 470 5,794                      - 

From other segments                     - (163)                     -                     - 163                      - 

7,102 (163) 838 470 5,957                      - 

Fee and commission expense (4,456) 163 (18) (865) (3,736)                      - 

net fee and commission income 2,646                      - 820 (395) 2,221                      - 

Gains on financial instruments at fair 
value 2,269                      -                     - 2,269                     -                      - 

Other income 205                      -                     -                     - 205                      - 

      

total operating income 9,050                      - 3,489 4,758 2,423 (1,620)

Net impairment losses (6,765)                      - 315 (105) (6,975)                      - 

Depreciation and amortisation (237)                      - (63) (31) (143)                      - 

Other operating expenses and staff 
costs (5,755)                      - (2,798) (472) (1,859) (626)

      

(loss)/profit before income tax (3,707)                      - 943 4,150 (6,554) (2,246)

Income tax (expense)/benefit (971)                      - (284) (1,249) (112) 674

    

(loss)/profit for the year (4,678)                      - 659 2,901 (6,666) (1,572)

total assets 288,308 (21,422) 73,429 202,885 10,156 23,260

total liabilities 276,426 (6,257) 58,827 201,118 2,126 20,612



<< 45 >>   NZF ANNUAL REPORT 2011

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2011

14.  seGment inFoRmAtion (continued)

discontinued operations:                 consumer Finance

                division

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

interest income

From external customers 663 1,155

From other segments                     -                      - 

663 1,155

Interest expense (271) (465)

net interest income 392 690

Fee and commission income

From external customers 589 907

From other segments                     -                      - 

589 907

Fee and commission expense (98) (176)

net fee and commission income 491 731

Other income 22 49

  

total operating income 905 1,470

Net impairment losses (346) (52)

Depreciation and amortisation (7) (10)

Other operating expenses and staff costs (1,064) (1,240)

loss on disposal of operation (see Note 20) (690)                      - 

  

(loss)/profit before income tax (1,202) 168

Income tax benefit/(expense) 135 (51)

  

(loss)/profit for the year (1,067) 117

total assets                     - 8,305

total liabilities                     - 5,981

cash flows from discontinued operations: 2011 2010

$’000 $’000

net cash flows from operating activities 2,331 (742)

net cash flows from investing activities                     - (2)

net cash flows from financing activities (3,058) 1,451

net cash flows (727) 707
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15.  deRivAtive Assets And liAbilities held FoR Risk mAnAGement

GRoup only 2011 2010

$’000 $’000

derivative assets held for risk management
Interest rate swaps                     - 47

derivative liabilities held for risk management
Interest rate swaps 1,468 1,552

the Group uses interest rate swaps to mitigate the risk of changing interest rates on the fair value of fixed rate mortgages and the 
cash flow exposures on the issued variable debt.

16.  loAns And AdvAnces to customeRs

GRoup only 2011

property home consumer total

Finance loans Finance 

division division division

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

loans and advances to customers 34,536 196,935                     - 231,471

impaired loan allowance
Collective loan allowance (299)                     -                     - (299)
Specific loan allowance (3,815) (261)                     - (4,076)

total loan allowance (4,114) (261)                     - (4,375)

net loans and advances to customers 30,422 196,674                     - 227,096

GRoup only 2010

property home consumer total

Finance loans Finance 

division division division

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

loans and advances to customers 61,455 200,506 5,951 267,912

impaired loan allowance
Collective loan allowance (491)                     - (91) (582)

Specific loan allowance (2,264)                     - (77) (2,341)

total loan allowance (2,755)                     - (168) (2,923)

net loans and advances to customers 58,700 200,506 5,783 264,989
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16. loAns And AdvAnces to customeRs (continued)

A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment losses for loans and advances, by class, is as follows:

GRoup only 2011

property home consumer total

Finance loans Finance 

division division division

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

collective loan allowance

Opening balance (491)                     - (91) (582)
Credit for the year 7 192                     - 49 241
Derecognition on sale of Finance Direct limited 20                     -                     - 42 42

Closing balance (299)                     -                     - (299)

specific loan allowance

Opening balance (2,264)                     - (77) (2,341)

Interest accrued on impaired loans and advances 380                     -                     - 380
(Charge)/credit for the year 7 (1,931) (261) (294) (2,486)
Derecognition on sale of Finance Direct limited 20                     -                     - 371 371

Closing balance (3,815) (261)                     - (4,076)

Gross amounts of loans, individually determined to be 
impaired, before deducting the individually assessed 
impairment allowance 30 8,971 261                   -   9,232

GRoup only 2010

property home consumer total

Finance loans Finance 

division division division

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

collective loan allowance

Opening balance (579)                     - (47) (626)

Credit/(charge) for the year 7 88                     - (44) 44

Closing balance (491)                     - (91) (582)

specific loan allowance

Opening balance (3,760)                     - (185) (3,945)

Interest accrued on impaired loans and advances 840                     -                     - 840

Credit/(charge) for the year 7 656                     - 108 764

Closing balance (2,264)                     - (77) (2,341)

Gross amounts of loans, individually determined to be 
impaired, before deducting the individually assessed 
impairment allowance 30 11,627                   -   163 11,790
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17. tRAde And otheR ReceivAbles

Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Accounts receivable               297                488                     -                     - 

Accrued loan interest               595                664                     -                     - 

Secured subordinated notes 34                     -                     -            3,810             3,460 

loans to subsidiary undertakings and controlled entities 34                     -                     -            5,864             2,405 

loans to jointly controlled entities 34               249                199               398                398 

loans to franchisees                  57                  43                     -                     - 

loans to employees 26                    3                    6                    3                    6 

           1,201             1,400          10,075             6,269 

secured subordinated notes
under the terms of the warehouse Facility Agreement with westpac Banking Corporation, NZF Group limited has provided funding  
of $3,810,000 (2010: $3,460,000) to NZF mortgages warehouse A trust. the Secured Subordinated Notes are secured against the 
assets and undertakings of NZF mortgages warehouse A trust and are repayable at the earlier to occur of the date of termination  
of the warehouse Facility Agreement or the vesting Date or such other date as agreed between the warehouse Facility Provider,  
NZF homeloans limited as trust manager, and the New Zealand Guardian trust Company limited as trustee.
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18. pRopeRty, plAnt And eQuipment

GRoup only leasehold computers office Furniture motor total

improvements & software & equipment vehicles

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

cost or deemed cost

Balance at 1 April 2009 152 630 749 19 1,550

Additions                          1 26 4                    21 52

Disposals (61) (1) (2)                      - (64)

balance at 31 march 2010 92 655 751 40 1,538

Balance at 1 April 2010 92 655 751 40 1,538

Additions                          5                    14                             1                      - 20

Disposals (30)                       -                              - (21) (51)

Assets derecognised on sale of shares held 
in Finance Direct limited (see Note 20)                           -                       - (138)                      - (138)

balance at 31 march 2011 67 669 614 19 1,369

depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 April 2009 30 301 480 13 824

Depreciation charge for the year 10 130 70 8 218

On disposals (33) (1) (1)                      - (35)

balance at 31 march 2010 7 430 549 21 1,007

Balance at 1 April 2010 7 430 549 21 1,007

Depreciation charge for the year                          8                  121                           50                      5 184

On disposals (9)                       -                              - (10) (19)

Assets derecognised on sale of shares held 
in Finance Direct limited (see Note 20)                           -                       - (116)                      - (116)

balance at 31 march 2011 6 551 483 16 1,056

carrying amounts

At 31 march 2010 85 225 202 19 531

At 31 march 2011 61 118 131 3 313
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19. intAnGible Assets

GRoup only Goodwill brand total

value

note $’000 $’000 $’000

cost or deemed cost

At 1 April 2009           10,082             6,614           16,696 

Additions                     -                     -                     - 

Disposals                     -                     -                     - 

At 31 march 2010          10,082            6,614          16,696 

At 1 April 2010           10,082             6,614           16,696 

Additions                     -                     -                     - 

Disposals 7 (616)                     - (616)

At 31 march 2011            9,466            6,614          16,080 

Accumulated impairment losses

At 1 April 2009                     -                     -                     - 

Impairment loss for the year 7             6,975                     -             6,975 

At 31 march 2010            6,975                     -            6,975 

At 1 April 2010             6,975                     -             6,975 

Impairment loss for the year 7                     -                     -                     - 

At 31 march 2011            6,975                     -            6,975 

net book amount

At 31 march 2010            3,107            6,614            9,721 

At 31 march 2011            2,491            6,614            9,105 

Goodwill 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to Cash Generating units (CGus) at the lowest level at which the  
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill has been allocated to three separate CGus, mPmh limited,  
New Zealand mortgage Finance limited and Finance Direct limited. the aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to  
each CGu are as follows:

GRoup only 2011 2010

$’000 $’000

mPmh limited               894                894 

New Zealand mortgage Finance limited            1,597             1,597 

Finance Direct limited                     - 616

           2,491             3,107 

the goodwill allocated to Finance Direct limited, which comprised the Consumer Finance Division of NZF Group limited, was written 
off when the Company’s 70% interest in that company was sold on 30 march 2011 (see Notes 14 and 20). the goodwill allocated to the 
activities of mPmh limited and New Zealand mortgage Finance limited forms part of the Financial Services Distribution reportable 
segment of NZF Group limited (see Note 14).        

the Directors have carried out an annual impairment review of goodwill allocated to each CGu, in order to ensure that recoverable 
amounts exceed aggregate carrying amounts. the recoverable amount of the separate CGus was determined based on value in use 
calculations.  Key assumptions made in determining the value in use calculations were as follows:
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19. intAnGible Assets (continued)

Budgeted EBITDA 
the cash flow projections use pre-tax cash flow amounts based on financial budgets approved by the Board covering a five year period.  
Budgeted EBItDA was based on past experience adjusted for expected increases in the short term growth rates of each CGu.

the short term growth rate applied to the budgeted EBItDA for mPmh limited reflects the strategic growth objectives that were 
approved by the Board prior to each reporting date. the growth objectives are designed to:

• increase market share by increasing the number of franchisees, loan writers and KiwiSaver specialists writing new business;

• replicate proven strategies to increase its profile in towns and cities where its market share at 31 march 2011 was significantly 
below its market share nationwide; 

• gain a strong foothold and market presence in the licensed Real Estate market following the successful launch of mike Pero Real 
Estate limited; and

• extract maximum value from the nationwide distribution network that was purchased in 2006.  

the short term growth rate applied to the budgeted EBItDA for New Zealand mortgage Finance limited reflects continued growth  
of its current business based on growth achieved in the last 12 months.                                                                                                                

Budgeted capital expenditure
the cash flow projections for capital expenditure are based on past experience and take into account anticipated cash outflows  
for the maintenance of the current functionality and performance of its property, plant and equipment. 

Long term growth rate
the long term growth rate applies to post 5 year forecast period. management determined the long term average growth rate with 
reference to inflation rates that have been published by the New Zealand Government.

Pre-tax adjusted discount rate
the discount rate applied to the cash flows of the CGu was based on the risk free rate assessed with reference to the yield on ten year 
bonds issued by the New Zealand Government, adjusted for a risk premium to reflect both systematic risk and the specific risks of the 
business, having regard to its geographical location, size, growth prospects, earning volatility and the rates implicit in the traded stock 
prices of comparable public companies.  

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
the table below shows the key assumptions made in determining the value in use calculations and the amount by which each key 
assumption must change in isolation in order for the estimated recoverable amount to be equal to its carrying value at 31 march 2011.

 Assumptions used in value    % change required in this input  

in use calculation  variable, all other things being equal,  

for carrying value to equal the 

recoverable amount

mpmh nzmF Fdl mpmh nzmF Fdl

Budgeted EBItDA 10.00% 2.50% N/A 13.50% 6.25% N/A

Budgeted capital expenditure 3.00% 1.30% N/A 41.35% 23.00% N/A

long term growth rate 2.50% 2.50% N/A 7.65% 4.40% N/A

Pre-tax adjusted discount rate 16.39% 16.39% N/A 6.60% 4.00% N/A
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19. intAnGible Assets (continued)

the assumptions used in the prior year were:

 Assumptions used in value    % change required in this input  

in use calculation  variable, all other things being equal,  

for carrying value to equal the 

recoverable amount

mpmh nzmF Fdl mpmh nzmF Fdl

Budgeted EBItDA 15.00% 2.50% 2.50% - 3.50% 6.75%

Budgeted capital expenditure 4.75% 1.50% 0.90% - 10.50% 19.75%

long term growth rate 2.50% 2.50% 2.50% - 1.50% 3.50%

Pre-tax adjusted discount rate 16.86% 16.86% 16.86% - 1.50% 3.35%

brand value

the brand value of $6,614,000 (2010: $6,614,000) relates to the Group’s 50% investment in its jointly controlled entity mPmh limited. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, the brand is allocated to this Cash Generating unit (CGu) as it is the lowest level at which the 
brand is monitored for internal management purposes.

the Directors have carried out an annual impairment review of the brand value allocated to the CGu, in order to ensure that 
recoverable amounts exceed aggregate carrying amounts, which was determined based on value in use calculations. Key assumptions 
made in determining the value in use calculations were as follows:
 
Budgeted EBITDA 
the cash flow projections use pre-tax cash flow amounts based on financial budgets approved by the Board covering a five year period.  
Budgeted EBItDA was based on past experience adjusted for expected increases in the short term growth rates of the CGu.

the short term growth rate applied to the budgeted EBItDA for mPmh limited reflects the strategic growth objectives that were 
approved by the Board prior to each reporting date. the growth objectives are designed to:

• increase market share by increasing the number of franchisees, loan writers and KiwiSaver specialists writing new business;

• replicate proven strategies to increase its profile in towns and cities where its market share at 31 march 2011 was significantly 
below its market share nationwide; 

• gain a strong foothold and market presence in the licensed Real Estate market following the successful launch of mike Pero Real 
Estate limited; and

• extract maximum value from the nationwide distribution network that was purchased in 2006.  

Budgeted capital expenditure
the cash flow projections for capital expenditure are based on past experience and take into account anticipated cash outflows  
for the maintenance of the current functionality and performance of its property, plant and equipment. 

Long term growth rate
management determined the long term average growth rate with reference to inflation rates that have been published by the  
New Zealand Government.

Pre-tax adjusted discount rate
the discount rate applied to the cash flows of the CGu was based on the risk free rate for ten year bonds issued by the  
New Zealand Government, adjusted for a risk premium to reflect both the increased risk of investing in equities and the systematic  
risk of each business.
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19. intAnGible Assets (continued)

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions
the table below shows the key assumptions made in determining the value in use calculations (1) and the amount by which each key 
assumption must change in isolation in order for the estimated recoverable amount to be equal to its carrying value (2). 

(1) (2)

Budgeted EBItDA 10.00% 13.50%

Budgeted capital expenditure   3.00% 41.35%

long term growth rate   2.50%   7.65%

Pre-tax adjusted discount rate 16.39%   6.60%

the assumptions used in the prior year were:

(1) (2)

Budgeted EBItDA 15.00%   2.75%

Budgeted capital expenditure   4.75% 16.20%

long term growth rate   2.50%   1.55%

Pre-tax adjusted discount rate 16.86%   1.60%

At 31 march 2011, the date of the Group’s annual impairment test, the estimated recoverable amount of the mPmh limited CGu  
and the New Zealand mortgage Finance limited CGu exceeded their carrying value by $3,585,000 (2010: $894,000) and $468,000  
(2010: $182,000) respectively. 

20. investment in subsidiARy undeRtAkinGs And jointly contRolled entities  

the Company’s investment in subsidiary undertakings and jointly controlled entities comprises shares held at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses.

subsidiary jointly total

undertakings controlled 

entities

note $’000 $’000 $’000

cost or deemed cost

At 1 April 2009                7,188              14,101              21,289 

Additions                   500                        -                   500 

Disposals                        -                        -                        - 

At 31 march 2010               7,688             14,101             21,789 

At 1 April 2010                7,688              14,101              21,789 

Additions                       1                        -                       1 

Disposals (1,713)                        - (1,713)

At 31 march 2011               5,976             14,101             20,077 

Accumulated impairment losses

At 1 April 2009                        -                        -                        - 

Impairment loss for the year 7                        -                6,593                6,593 

At 31 march 2010                        -               6,593               6,593 

At 1 April 2010                        -                6,593                6,593 

Impairment loss for the year 7                        -                        -                        - 

At 31 march 2011                        -               6,593               6,593 

net book amount

At 31 march 2010               7,688               7,508             15,196 

At 31 march 2011               5,976               7,508             13,484 
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20. investment in subsidiARy undeRtAkinGs And jointly contRolled entities (continued)  

Significant subsidiary undertakings and jointly controlled entities include:

subsidiary undertaking   principal Activity                shareholding                             carrying value

    2011     2010 2011 2010

   %    % $’000 $’000

NZF money limited Finance Company 100% 100% 5,074 5,074

NZF homeloans limited mortgage Servicing 
Company

100% - 1 -

NZF Securitisation limited mortgage lending 100% 100% 1 1

New Zealand mortgage Finance limited mortgage Advisory 100% 100% 900 900

Finance Direct limited Finance Company - 70% - 1,713

5,976 7,688

jointly controlled entities

mPmh limited holding Company 50% 50% 7,508 7,508

total investments 13,484 15,196

principal Activity                shareholding

    2011     2010

   %    %

subsidiary undertaking of nzF money limited:
NZF homeloans limited mortgage Servicing Company - 100%

subsidiary undertaking of nzF securitisation limited:
NZF mortgages limited mortgage lending 100% 100%

subsidiary undertaking of new zealand mortgage Finance limited:
Approved mortgage Brokers limited mortgage Advisory 100% 100%

subsidiary undertaking of mpmh limited:
mike Pero mortgages limited mortgage and Insurance  

Broking
100% 100%

subsidiary undertakings of mike pero mortgages limited:
mike Pero (New Zealand) limited mortgage Broking 100% 100%

mike Pero Insurances limited Insurance Broking 100% 100%

subsidiary undertaking of mike pero insurances limited:
Pyco Insurances limited Dormant 51% 51%

jointly controlled entity of mike pero mortgages limited:
mPRE limited holding Company 50% -

subsidiary undertaking of mpRe limited:
mike Pero Real Estate limited licensed Real Estate Agency 100% -
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20. investment in subsidiARy undeRtAkinGs And jointly contRolled entities (continued) 
 
On 1 November 2010, NZF money limited’s 100% shareholding in NZF homeloans limited was transferred at cost to NZF  
Group limited.      

NZF homeloans limited is the trust manager and exercises control over the assets and undertakings of NZF mortgages warehouse 
A trust, NZF mortgages warehouse B trust and NZF mortgages 2010-1 trust, as it has sole entitlement to both the Residual Capital 
Interest and Residual Income Interest of all three trusts. NZF homeloans limited, NZF mortgages warehouse A trust, NZF mortgages 
warehouse B trust and NZF mortgages 2010-1 trust comprise the home loans Division of the Group. the principal activity of the 
home loans Division is to provide residential mortgage customers with bank competitive home loans, which are secured by first 
mortgage security.  

All subsidiary undertakings, controlled entities and jointly controlled entities have reporting dates of 31 march.

sale of Finance direct limited

On 30 march 2011, NZF Group limited sold its 70% interest in Finance Direct limited to the existing minority shareholder, following  
a decision being made by the Board that Consumer Finance was not considered to be core to the Group’s operations going forward.  
total consideration received net of transaction costs was $855,000, which resulted in a loss on disposal of $858,000 being recognised 
by the Company against its original cost of investment of $1,713,000 and a loss on disposal of Consumer Finance operations of 
$690,000 being recognised by the Group, as follows:    

$’000 $’000

consideration received, satisfied in cash                   875 

less: transaction costs (20)

net consideration received, satisfied in cash 855

carrying amount of identifiable assets and liabilities disposed:

Cash and cash equivalents                1,048 

loans and advances to customers                3,315 

Collective loan allowance (42)

Specific loan allowance (371)

trade and other receivables                       1 

Current tax assets                       2 

Property, plant and equipment                     22 

Deferred tax asset                   205 

Other assets                       7 

trade and other payables (225)

loans and borrowings (2,550)

Other liabilities (84)

Non-controlling interest (399)

(929)

(74)

Goodwill on acquisition written off (see note 19) (616)

loss on disposal of operation (see note 14) (690)

net consideration received, satisfied in cash                   855 

cash and cash equivalents disposed (1,048)

net cash outflow (193)

the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities disposed were not considered to be materially different to their carrying 
amounts. No income tax expense arose on the sale of the Company’s 70% interest in Finance Direct limited or on the discontinuance 
of the Group’s Consumer Finance operations.
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20. investment in subsidiARy undeRtAkinGs And jointly contRolled entities (continued)  

proportional consolidation of jointly controlled entities 

the Group’s investment in mPmh limited is consolidated using the proportionate line by line method. the consolidated financial 
statements include the Group’s share of the total assets, total liabilities, non-controlling interests, income and expenses of jointly 
controlled entities, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group, from the date that joint control 
commences until the date that joint control ceases.

the consolidated financial statements include the following amounts, which represent the Group’s share of the total assets, total 
liabilities and non-controlling interests of mPmh limited as at each reporting date:

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 287 243

trade and other receivables 93 77

Current tax assets 22 28

Property, plant and equipment 156 259

Intangible assets 7,508 7,508

Other assets 281 273

total assets 8,347 8,388

liabilities
trade and other payables 381 326

loans and borrowings 575 650

Deferred tax liability 31 45

total liabilities 987 1,021

net assets 7,360 7,367

non-controlling interests 3 6

the consolidated financial statements also include the following amounts, which represent the Group’s share of the income and 
expenses of mPmh limited for the year ended 31 march 2011: 

2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Interest income   9   32

Interest expense   (31)   (36)

net interest income   (22)   (4)

Fee and commission income   3,777   4,309

Fee and commission expense   (2,092)   (2,453)

net fee and commission income   1,685   1,856

other income   120   175

total operating income   1,783   2,027

Net impairment loss   -   (6,966)

Operating expenses and staff costs   (1,784)   (1,884)

loss before income tax   (1)   (6,823)

Income tax expense   (3)   (29)

loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the company   (4)   (6,852)
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21. deFeRRed tAX Asset 

Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

the balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Collective loan impairment allowance 84 175                     -                     - 

Specific loan impairment allowance 1,141 702                     -                     - 

Other impairment allowance                     - 60                     - 60

Income tax losses carried forward 988 70               619                     - 

Prepaid advertising expenditure (51) (51)                     -                     - 

holiday pay accruals 33 36                     -                     - 

Other timing differences (2) 13                     -                     - 

net deferred tax asset 2,193 1,005 619 60

movements

Opening balance 1,005 1,954 60 60

Deferred tax asset derecognised on sale of Finance Direct 
limited 20 (205)                     -                     -                     - 

Credited/(charged) to the Income Statement 10 1,393 (949)               559                     - 

Closing balance 2,193 1,005 619 60

the reduction in the corporate tax rate from 30% to 28% from 1 April 2011 has been taken into account in calculating the value  
of deferred tax as at 31 march 2011.

22. otheR Assets

Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Deferred brokerage fees            1,112             1,584                     -                     - 

Prepaid expenses            1,025                784                  48                260 

Purchased software under development but not yet deployed 32               878                844                     -                     - 

           3,015             3,212                  48                260 

Current            2,193             2,149                  48                260 

Non-Current               822             1,063                     -                     - 

           3,015             3,212                  48                260 

23. tRAde And otheR pAyAbles

Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Accounts payable               880             1,124               464                433 

Amount owed to subsidiary undertaking 34                     -                     -               187                     - 

Accrued interest               381                348                  45                  83 

Accrued expenses               548                793                  52                  46 

           1,809             2,265               748                562 
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24. loAns And boRRoWinGs

Group Group company company

2011 2010 2011 2010

note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

term loans (a)       111,493         194,350                     -                     - 

Secured mortgage backed notes (b)          84,618                     -                     -                     - 

unsecured capital notes (c)          18,019           20,050          18,019           20,050 

Secured debenture stock (d)          20,876           63,794                     -                     - 

      235,006         278,194          18,019           20,050 

(a) term loans
At 31 march 2011, the Group had the following term loan facilities:

2011

Facility lender maturity interest  total  Amount  Amount 

date Rate  Facility  drawn  undrawn 

% $’000 $’000 $’000

nzF mortgages Warehouse A trust

warehouse Facility westpac 18/10/11 4.05       225,000       108,535       116,465 

nzF money limited

loan Participation Arrangement hillview trust See Below 8.00            2,383            2,383                     - 

mpmh limited

term loan westpac 31/05/11 4.65               575               575                     - 

      227,958       111,493       116,465 

2010

Facility lender maturity interest  total  Amount  Amount 

date Rate  Facility  drawn  undrawn 

% $’000 $’000 $’000

nzF mortgages Warehouse A trust

warehouse Facility westpac 18/10/10 3.28         225,000         193,700           31,300 

mpmh limited

term loan westpac 31/05/10 4.72                650                650                     - 

        225,650         194,350           31,300 

the $225,000,000 (2010: $225,000,000) warehouse Facility between westpac Banking Corporation, NZF mortgages warehouse A trust, 
NZF homeloans limited and NZF Group limited, is to be used for the provision of residential mortgages as per agreed credit criteria. 
Interest payable on the warehouse Facility is set at the date of drawdown or periodic rollover of the facility. the warehouse Facility is 
secured by first registered mortgages and was due for repayment on 18 October 2011. On 3 June 2011, westpac Banking Corporation 
agreed to extend the maturity date of the facility to 18 October 2012.  

In October 2010, NZF money limited entered into a loan Participation Arrangement with the hillview trust, a trust associated with 
Pat Redpath O’Connor (Non-Executive Director). As at 31 march 2011, the hillview trust has advanced $2,383,000 (2010: $nil) to 
NZF money limited, which bears interest at the rate of 8% per annum and is secured against certain first mortgage loans totalling 
$8,313,000 (2010: $nil), in which the trust participates on a first priority basis.  

the $1,150,000 (2010: $1,300,000) term loan Facility between westpac Banking Corporation and mPmh limited is secured over the 
assets and undertakings of the mike Pero mortgages Group. On 26 may 2011, the term loan Facility limit was reduced to $700,000  
and the maturity date extended to 31 may 2012.

At 31 march 2011, the Group had cash reserves of $5,656,000 (2010: $15,346,000) and total undrawn term loan facilities of 
$116,465,000 (2010: $31,300,000).
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24. loAns And boRRoWinGs (continued)
 
(b) secured mortgage backed notes

As at 31 march 2011

notes issued call maturity issue Rating interest Rate principal

date date Amount (standard Rate outstanding

$’000 & poor’s) % $’000

Class A1 Notes 15/09/15 17/06/41           87,800 AAA 4.49          76,672 

Class A2 Notes 15/09/15 17/06/41             9,100 AAA 5.34            7,946 

          96,900          84,618 

Class B Notes 15/09/15 17/06/41             2,500 AA- 4.84            2,500 

Class C Notes 15/09/15 17/06/41                600 Not Rated 7.74               600 

        100,000          87,718 

less: Class B & Class C Notes held by NZF homeloans limited (3,100)

         84,618 
 
On 15 June 2010, the NZF Group successfully completed the launch of its inaugural $100 million Residential mortgage Backed 
Securities (RmBS) issue, the NZF mortgages 2010-1 trust. the transaction involved the sale of $100 million of fully reinsured 
Residential home loans from NZF mortgages warehouse A trust to NZF mortgages 2010-1 trust and the issue of $100 million of 
Notes by the trust. 

NZF homeloans limited invested $3.1 million to acquire all of the Class B and Class C Notes, in order to facilitate the transaction. 
the ratings assigned by Standard & Poor’s to each Note Class took into account a number of factors, including the credit risk of the 
underlying Residential home loans sold, which further underlines the Group’s commitment to quality lending.  
 
(c) unsecured capital notes

2011

issue maturity interest  total 

date date Rate  issued 

% $’000

unsecured Capital Notes (NZF020) 15/03/11 15/03/16 6.00          18,019 

2010

issue maturity interest  total 

date date Rate  issued 

% $’000

unsecured Capital Notes (NZF010) 6/10/06 15/03/11 9.75           20,050 

In October 2006, $20,050,000 of unsecured capital notes were issued by NZF Group limited with a fixed maturity date of 15 march 
2011. Prior to the maturity date, the Company had the option to elect to offer the unsecured capital noteholders the option to renew 
the unsecured capital notes on new terms and conditions, to convert the unsecured capital notes by issuing new ordinary shares in the 
Company at a discount to the then current market price, or by redeeming the unsecured capital notes for cash.   

In January 2011, the Company elected to offer unsecured capital noteholders the option to renew the unsecured capital notes on new 
terms and conditions, or to convert the unsecured capital notes by issuing new ordinary shares in the Company at a discount to the 
then current market price.
 
On 15 march 2011, $2,030,750 of the unsecured capital notes were converted into 33,290,954 new ordinary shares in the Company 
(see Note 26) and $18,019,250 of the unsecured capital notes were rolled over on new terms and conditions. the unsecured capital 
notes now pay fixed interest at the rate of 6% per annum, quarterly in arrears and mature on 15 march 2016. Prior to the maturity 
date, the Company may elect to offer unsecured capital noteholders the option to renew the unsecured capital notes on new terms and 
conditions. Alternatively, the Company may elect to convert the unsecured capital notes by issuing new ordinary shares in the Company 
at a discount to the then current market price, or by redeeming the unsecured capital notes for cash.
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24. loAns And boRRoWinGs (continued)
 
(d) secured debenture stock

At 31 march 2011, secured debenture stock of $20,876,000 (2010: $63,794,000) comprises $20,876,000 (2010: $58,186,000) in respect  
of secured debenture stock issued by NZF money limited and $nil (2010: $5,608,000) of secured debenture stock issued by Finance 
Direct limited, following the sale of the Company’s investment in that company on 30 march 2011 (see Note 20).

the debenture stock issued by NZF money limited is secured under a Debenture Stock trust Deed dated 21 October 1999 between  
NZF money limited and Covenant trustee Company limited as trustee. the Deed creates a floating charge in favour of the trustee 
over all of the assets and undertakings of NZF money limited. At 31 march 2011, liabilities totalling $102,000 (2010: $215,000) rank  
in priority to secured debenture stockholders in the event that NZF money limited was liquidated.

25. otheR liAbilities

GRoup only 2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Deferred fee income:

Current 80 196

Non-Current 56 200

136 396

26. shARe cApitAl 

                    Group & company                     Group & company

2011 2011 2010 2010

no. of no. of

shares shares

‘000 $’000 ‘000 $’000

issued and paid up capital:

Ordinary shares at the start of the year 76,667            7,503 76,667             7,503 

Ordinary shares issued during the year 33,291 2,031                     -                     - 

Share issue expenses                     - (9)                     -                     - 

Ordinary shares at the end of the year 109,958 9,525 76,667 7,503

On 15 march 2011, $2,030,750 of the unsecured capital notes were converted into 33,290,954 new ordinary shares in the Company  
at a share price of $0.061 per share, representing 95% of the weighted average sales price of ordinary shares in the Company sold 
during the last 20 business days immediately prior to the maturity date of 15 march 2011 (see Note 24). No Ordinary Shares were 
issued by the Company during the year ended 31 march 2010.

All Ordinary Shares are issued and fully paid, have no par value and have an equal right to vote, to dividends and to any surplus on 
winding up. the Company does not have a total number of authorised shares. the Board may issue Shares or other Equity Securities  
to any person in any number it thinks fit provided that while the Company is listed, the issue is made in accordance with the NZx 
listing Rules.     

On 19 August 2004, the Company issued 500,000 Ordinary Shares for $150,000 pursuant to an employee share purchase scheme 
complying with Section DF7 of the Income tax Act 2004. As required by the Income tax Act the consideration for the shares was funded 
by an interest free loan to each employee to be repaid over a five year restricted period. At 31 march 2011, the total receivable owing 
from the employees was $3,000 (2010: $6,000). the shares allocated to employees are held on their behalf by the trustee, which is 
NZF trustee limited. Employees are entitled to receive the dividend on the shares, with any such amounts received applied to reducing 
their respective loans. voting rights on the shares are exercised by the trustee on behalf of the employees. John Alan Callaghan and 
mark hume thornton have been appointed by the Company as Directors of NZF trustee limited.
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27. FinAnciAl instRuments

significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement 
and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity 
instrument are disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements.

determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy

the Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for the same instrument (i.e. without modification or repackaging);

level 2: Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities or other valuation techniques for which all significant inputs  
are based on observable market data and yield curve information provided by the Group’s bankers; and

level 3: valuation techniques for which any significant input is not based on observable market data.

the following tables show an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy:

GRoup only 2011

level 1 level 2 level 3 total Fair

value

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets

Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps                     -                     -                     -                     - 

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps                     - 1,468                     - 1,468

GRoup only 2010

level 1 level 2 level 3 total Fair

value

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets

Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps                     - 47                     - 47

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments:

Interest rate swaps                     - 1,552                     - 1,552

there have been no significant transfers between levels during the year ended 31 march 2011 or the year ended 31 march 2010.

Financial instruments recorded at fair value

the following is a description of the determination of fair value for financial instruments which are recorded at fair value using 
valuation techniques. these incorporate the Group’s estimate of assumptions that a market participant would make when valuing  
the instruments.

Derivatives
Derivative products valued using a valuation technique with market observable inputs are mainly interest rate swaps. the most 
frequently applied valuation techniques include swap models, using present value calculations. the models incorporate various  
inputs including the applicable interest rate yield curves derived from quoted interest rates.
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Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities not carried at fair value

the following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for those financial instruments which  
are not already recorded at fair value in the financial statements.

Loans and advances to customers
Each loan has particular circumstances, which determine its fair value. the carrying amounts of the loans net of impairment 
allowances best represent their fair value.

Loans and borrowings
Fair value is calculated based on the present value of contractual principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate  
of interest at the reporting date. 

Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables
Due to their relatively short term nature, the carrying amounts of these items are considered to be equivalent to their fair value.

Set out below is a comparison by class of the carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments that are not carried at fair  
value in the financial statements. these tables do not include the fair values of non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities.

GRoup 2011 2011 2010 2010

carrying total Fair carrying total Fair

Amount value Amount value

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets

Available for sale assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,656 5,656 15,346 15,346

Loans and receivables: 

loans and advances to customers 227,096 227,096 264,989 264,989

trade and other receivables 1,201 1,201 1,400 1,400

228,297 228,297 266,389 266,389

total Financial Assets 233,953 233,953 281,735 281,735

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost:

loans and borrowings 235,006 235,006 278,194 278,194

trade and other payables 1,809 1,809 2,265 2,265

total Financial liabilities 236,815 236,815 280,459 280,459
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27. FinAnciAl instRuments (continued)

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities not carried at fair value (continued)

compAny 2011 2011 2010 2010

carrying total Fair carrying total Fair

Amount value Amount value

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets

Available for sale assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 106 106 802 802

Loans and receivables: 

trade and other receivables 10,075 10,075 6,269 6,269

total Financial Assets 10,181 10,181 7,071 7,071

Financial liabilities

Amortised cost:

loans and borrowings 18,019 18,019 20,050 20,050

trade and other payables 748 748 562 562

total Financial liabilities 18,767 18,767 20,612 20,612

the Company and the Group have not classified any assets as held to maturity Investments.

interest rates used for determining fair value

the following interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, where applicable, are based on the yield curve as at reporting date 
plus an appropriate constant credit spread:

2011 2010

loans and advances to customers 6.25% - 15.00% 5.80% - 19.95%

term loans 4.05% - 8.00% 3.28% - 4.72%

Secured mortgage backed notes 4.49% - 7.74% N/A

unsecured capital notes 6.00% 9.75%

Secured subordinated notes 3.75% - 7.96% 3.75% - 8.71%

Secured debenture stock 5.75% - 11.00% 4.50% - 12.00%

Financial risk management objectives

the Group’s management provides services to the business, co-ordinates access to domestic and international financial markets, 
monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through internal risk reports which analyse  
exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. these risks include market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk  
and price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk.

the Group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks by using derivative financial instruments to hedge these risk exposures.  
the use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the Board of Directors, which provide written  
principles on foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of financial derivatives and non-derivative financial 
instruments, and the investment of excess liquidity. Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed by the Board of  
Directors on a continuous basis. the Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial 
instruments, for speculative purposes.
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27. FinAnciAl instRuments (continued)

market risk

the Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates. the Group enters into a variety of derivative 
financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate risk, including interest rate swap contracts to mitigate the risk of 
changes in interest rates.

market risk exposures are analysed by sensitivity analysis. there has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the 
manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

Foreign currency risk management

All of the Group’s operations are carried out within New Zealand. As a result, the Group is not exposed to any direct foreign currency 
exchange risks. 

interest rate risk management

the Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow and lend funds at both fixed and floating interest rates.  
the risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings and by the use of 
interest rate swap contracts in order to maintain the Group’s lending margin on fixed rate mortgages. 

under the terms of the warehouse Facility Agreement with westpac Banking Corporation all fixed rate mortgages are matched with 
individual interest rate swap contracts for the duration of the fixed rate loan period. As a result, all fixed rate lending is hedged.    

hedging activities are evaluated regularly to align with interest rate policy and defined risk appetite; ensuring optimal hedging 
strategies are applied, by either positioning the Statement of Financial Position or protecting interest expense through different 
interest rate cycles.

interest rate swap contracts

under interest rate swap contracts, the Group agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate interest amounts 
calculated on agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable the Group to mitigate the risk of changing interest rates on the 
fair value of fixed rate mortgages and the cash flow exposures on the issued variable debt. the fair value of interest rate swaps at the 
reporting date is determined by discounting the future cash flows using the yield curves at reporting date and the credit risk inherent 
in the contract, and is disclosed below. the average interest rate is based on the outstanding balances at the end of the financial year.

the following table details the notional principal amounts and remaining terms of interest rate swap contracts outstanding as at 
reporting date:

GRoup only

outstanding contracts
                  Average contracted                     
                  Fixed interest Rate

                   notional principal                          
                            Amount                    net Fair value

2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

% % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

less than 1 year 3.75 4.10 105,275 115,548 (478) (566)

1 to 2 years 5.30 4.57 24,741 19,556 (757) (226)

2 to 5 years 5.31 6.52 5,591 16,551 (233) (713)

135,607 151,655 (1,468) (1,505)

the interest rate swap contracts settle on a monthly basis. the floating rate on the interest rate swap contracts is the interbank rate  
of New Zealand (BKBm). the Group settles any difference between the fixed and floating interest rates on a net basis.
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27. FinAnciAl instRuments (continued)

interest rate sensitivity analysis

the sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-derivative 
instruments at the reporting date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding  
at the reporting date was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point (0.5%) increase or decrease is used when reporting interest 
rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in 
interest rates.  

For each interest rate movement of 50 basis points higher/lower, assuming all other variables were held constant, the Group’s loss  
for the year would increase/decrease by $1,381,000 (2010: $386,000).
 
credit risk management

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. Financial 
instruments which potentially subject the Group to credit risk principally consist of cash and cash equivalents, derivative assets held 
for risk management, loans and advances to customers, and trade and other receivables. 

the Group’s cash balances, call deposits and derivative assets held for risk management are placed with major trading banks with 
high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. the Group performs credit evaluations on all customers requiring 
loans and advances. the Group requires collateral or other security to support financial instruments with credit risk. 

the Group operates a lending policy with various levels of authority depending on the size and loan to value ratio of the loan, ensuring 
compliance with all trust Deed covenants and agreed credit criteria set out in term loan facility agreements. the Group closely 
monitors the performance of its borrowers, the payment of installments under its loans, and has adopted a formal debt management 
process to be followed when a loan falls into arrears. 

Risk gradings categorise exposures according to the degree of risk of financial loss faced and focus management on the attendant 
risks. Risk grades are used to determine where impairment allowances may be required. the current risk grading framework consists 
of three grades reflecting varying degrees of risk of default and the availability of collateral or other credit risk mitigation. they are  
as follows:

• Neither past due or impaired – compliance with all terms, good security value, no adverse events affecting the borrower.

• Past due but not impaired – material compliance with all terms, no concerns over security value or future events that may  
affect the borrower.

• Impaired – non-compliance with terms or evidence of impairment of security held, or adverse event affecting the borrower.

the Group implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. the principal collateral 
types for loans and advances to customers are:

• mortgages over properties.
• General Security Agreements.
• Charges over business assets and motor vehicles.
• Personal guarantees. 

the Group also limits potential exposure to credit risk from certain home loan mortgage customers by fully reinsuring loan principal 
amounts and 12 months cash flow cover with third party insurers. At 31 march 2011, $183,128,000 (2010: $192,471,000) of the reported 
loans and advances to customers were fully reinsured with third party insurers. 

maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying value of each financial asset in the Statement of Financial Position, 
which is net of any impairment allowance. Concentration of credit exposures set out in Note 28 do not take into account the fair value 
of any collateral, in the event of counterparties failing to meet their contractual obligations.
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27. FinAnciAl instRuments (continued)

liquidity risk management

ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an appropriate liquidity 
risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management 
requirements.  the Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and funding facilities, by continuously 
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and financial liabilities.  Included in 
Note 24 are details of additional undrawn term loan facilities that the Group had at its disposal at 31 march 2011 to further reduce 
liquidity risk. 

On 1 December 2010, the Debenture Stock trust Deed dated 21 October 1999 between NZF money limited and Covenant trustee 
Company limited as trustee, was varied by a Deed of Amendment, primarily to give effect to the capital ratio, liquidity and related 
party exposure requirements imposed by the Reserve Bank of New Zealand Act 1989 and its regulations.  As a result, NZF money 
limited is now required to manage its liquidity to ensure that, for each of the first 3 months of each monthly liquidity Report submitted 
to the trustee, NZF money limited’s projected liquidity Position is positive.  

NZF money limited has complied with all trustee imposed liquidity requirements following their introduction on 1 December 2010  
and continues to manage its liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and funding facilities, by continuously monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and financial liabilities.

the tables in Note 29 detail the Group’s expected maturity for its financial assets and the remaining contractual maturity for its 
financial liabilities.  the tables have been drawn up based on the contractual maturities of the financial assets except where the  
Group anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period and the cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest  
date on which the Group can be required to pay.   

capital management

the Group considers share capital and retained earnings to be capital for management purposes.  In implementing current capital 
requirements, the Board of Directors is cognisant of its responsibilities for ensuring that NZF money limited complies with the 
following requirements:  

• to maintain a Capital Ratio of not less than 8%, as required under the Reserve Bank of New Zealand Act 1989 and its regulations.

• to ensure that Aggregate Related Party Exposures do not exceed 15% of Capital, as required under the Reserve Bank of  
New Zealand Act 1989 and its regulations and the Debenture Stock trust Deed dated 21 October 1999 between NZF money 
limited and Covenant trustee Company limited as trustee. 

• to maintain a Capital Ratio of not less than 10%, as required under the Debenture Stock trust Deed dated 21 October 1999 
between NZF money limited and Covenant trustee Company limited as trustee. 

• to not at any time permit total liabilities to exceed 86% of total tangible Assets, as required under the Debenture Stock trust 
Deed dated 21 October 1999 between NZF money limited and Covenant trustee Company limited as trustee. 

the Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business.  the impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ return is also recognised and the Group recognises 
the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the advantages and 
security afforded by a sound capital position.  the Group also monitors the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.  NZF money 
limited has complied with all trustee and statutorily imposed capital requirements throughout the two years ended 31 march 2011  
and there has been no material change in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.
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28. concentRAtion oF cRedit eXposuRe

loAns And AdvAnces to customeRs
Geographical concentration of loans and Advances

GRoup only 2011 2011 2010 2010

% $’000 % $’000

Residential properties 

Owner Occupied, Investment and Lifestyle Properties

Auckland 37.92 87,778 39.91 106,919

Bay of Plenty 3.88                   8,975 3.36 8,999

Canterbury 6.05                 13,994 5.47 14,645

Gisborne 0.62                   1,443 0.49 1,314

hawkes Bay 2.15 4,969 2.04 5,478

North Shore 7.89 18,273 8.90 23,856

Northland 3.63 8,398 3.11 8,324

Southland/Otago 1.65                   3,821 1.28 3,426

South Island - Other 3.00                   6,941 2.31 6,182

taranaki/manawatu/wanganui 2.78                   6,433 2.56 6,859

waikato 6.79 15,707 6.05 16,199

wellington 9.70 22,455 9.45 25,324

86.06 199,187 84.93 227,525

Residential Development Land

Auckland 3.61 8,345 4.10 10,977

Northland 0.15 347 0.11 288

wellington 1.86 4,309 1.50 4,028

5.62 13,001 5.71 15,293

Residential Development Site

Auckland 1.96 4,548 1.66 4,452

commercial and industrial properties 

Mixed Use Properties

Auckland 2.20 5,100 2.25 6,012

Northland                            -                            - 0.29 783

2.20 5,100 2.54 6,795

Commercial Development Land

Queenstown 2.34 5,420 1.71 4,587

business lending and other Activities

Auckland 0.52 1,196 0.11 293

wellington 1.30 3,019 1.13 3,016

1.82 4,215 1.24 3,309

consumer Finance

New Zealand                            -                            - 2.21 5,951

    

total 100.00 231,471 100.00 267,912
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28. concentRAtion oF cRedit eXposuRe (continued)

loAns And AdvAnces to customeRs (continued)
collateral held over loans and Advances

2011 2011 2010 2010

% $’000 % $’000

First mortgages 95.41 220,853 95.90 256,916

Second mortgages 2.77 6,403 0.64 1,711

GSA and Other Security 1.82 4,215 3.46 9,285

total 100.00 231,471 100.00 267,912

concentration of loans and Advances to individual counterparties

number of number of

 counterparties  counterparties

2011 2010

% of shareholder Funds

10 - 19.99%                           3 12

20 - 29.99%                           3 3

30 - 39.99%                           4                           1 

40 - 49.99%                           1                            - 

total 11 16

managed Funds, custodial and other Fiduciary Activities
the Group has not had any involvement in funds management and/or custodial activities. 

FundinG – loAns And boRRoWinGs
product concentration of Funding

Group Group Group Group company company company company

2011 2011 2010 2010 2011 2011 2010 2010

% $’000 % $’000 % $’000 % $’000

term loans 47.44  111,493 69.86 194,350                -                -                -                - 

Secured mortgage backed 
notes 36.01     84,618                -                -                -                -                -                - 

Secured debenture stock 8.88     20,876 22.93 63,794                -                -                -                - 

unsecured capital notes 7.67     18,019 7.21 20,050 100.00 18,019 100.00 20,050

total 100.00 235,006 100.00 278,194 100.00 18,019 100.00 20,050
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28. concentRAtion oF cRedit eXposuRe (continued)

FundinG – loAns And boRRoWinGs (continued)
Geographical concentration of Funding

Group Group Group Group company company company company

2011 2011 2010 2010 2011 2011 2010 2010

% $’000 % $’000 % $’000 % $’000

New Zealand 99.16  233,127 98.77 274,812 99.13 17,863 99.28 19,905

Australia 0.37          861 0.55 1,571 0.32 58 0.27 55

united Kingdom 0.12          276 0.21 615                -                -                -                - 

China 0.11          249 0.06           161                -                -                -                - 

Switzerland 0.05          108 0.03 73 0.39 70 0.25 50

hong Kong 0.04          100 0.08           212                -                -                -                - 

uSA 0.04             83 0.06 176 0.16 28 0.12 25

Germany 0.02             55 0.01 25                -                -                -                - 

Japan 0.02             44 0.02 46                -                -                -                - 

Netherlands 0.02             40 0.01 30                -                -                -                - 

Romania 0.01             20                -                -                -                -                -                - 

France 0.01             16 0.12           348                -                - 0.08             15 

Ireland 0.01             12 0.01 11                -                -                -                - 

thailand 0.01               8                -                -                -                -                -                - 

taiwan 0.01               7 0.01 7                -                -                -                - 

Canada                -                - 0.03 85                -                -                -                - 

Singapore                -                - 0.01 10                -                -                -                - 

Korea                -                - 0.01               7                -                -                -                - 

malaysia                -                - 0.01 5                -                -                -                - 

total 100.00 235,006 100.00 278,194 100.00 18,019 100.00 20,050

there is no material concentration of funding within New Zealand.
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29. mAtuRity pRoFile oF FinAnciAl Assets And FinAnciAl liAbilities

(a) interest rate risk
the following tables summarise the Group’s interest rate gap position on the basis of net discounted cash flows:

GRoup 2011

Weighted             current non-current total

average 0 - 6 7 - 12 1 - 2 2 - 5 5+

effective months months years years years

interest rate $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

%

Financial Assets

Non-Derivative:

Cash and cash equivalents 2.25 5,656                  -                  -                  -                  - 5,656

loans and advances to customers 7.86 25,191 3,565 225 1,516 196,599 227,096

trade and other receivables                  - 1,201                  -                  -                  -                  - 1,201

32,048 3,565 225 1,516 196,599 233,953

Financial liabilities

Non-Derivative:

trade and other payables                  - 1,809                  -                  -                  -                  - 1,809
term loans 4.14 2,958 108,535                  -                  -                  - 111,493
Secured mortgage backed notes 4.57                  -                  -                  -                  - 84,618 84,618
unsecured capital notes 6.00                  -                  -                  - 18,019                  - 18,019
Secured debenture stock 8.56 11,716 5,718 3,196 246                  - 20,876

16,483 114,253 3,196 18,265 84,618 236,815

Derivative:

Derivative liabilities held for risk 
management                  - 222 256 757 233                  - 1,468

16,705 114,509 3,953 18,498 84,618 238,283

As disclosed in Note 24, on 3 June 2011, westpac Banking Corporation agreed to extend the maturity date of the $225,000,000 
warehouse Facility made available to NZF mortgages warehouse A trust by a further 12 months to 18 October 2012. As is usual 
practice, this facility will be renegotiated in the ordinary course of business.  
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29. mAtuRity pRoFile oF FinAnciAl Assets And FinAnciAl liAbilities (continued)

(a) interest rate risk (continued)

GRoup 2010

Weighted                current            non-current total

average 0 - 6 7 - 12 1 - 2 2 - 5 5+

effective months months years years years

interest rate $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

%

Financial Assets

Non-Derivative:

Cash and cash equivalents 2.75 15,346                  -                  -                  -                  - 15,346

loans and advances to customers 8.03 50,121 364 1,480 2,852 210,172 264,989

trade and other receivables                  - 1,400                  -                  -                  -                  - 1,400

66,867 364 1,480 2,852 210,172 281,735

Derivative:

Derivative assets held for risk man-
agement                  -                  -                  - 1 46                  - 47

      

66,867 364 1,481 2,898 210,172 281,782

Financial liabilities

Non-Derivative:

trade and other payables                  - 2,265                  -                  -                  -                  - 2,265

term loans 3.28 650 193,700                  -                  -                  - 194,350

unsecured capital notes 9.75                  - 20,050                  -                  -                  - 20,050

Secured debenture stock 7.80 39,047 13,158 10,138 1,451                  - 63,794

41,962 226,908 10,138 1,451                  - 280,459

Derivative:

Derivative liabilities held for risk 
management                  - 183 383 227 759                  - 1,552

42,145 227,291 10,365 2,210                  - 282,011

compAny 2011

Weighted              current               non-current total

average 0 - 6 7 - 12 1 - 2 2 - 5 5+

effective months months years years years

interest rate $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

%

Financial Assets

Non-Derivative:

Cash and cash equivalents 2.25 106                  -                  -                  -                  - 106

trade and other receivables 1.82 6,265 3,810                  -                  -                  - 10,075

6,371 3,810                  -                  -                  - 10,181

Financial liabilities

Non-Derivative:

trade and other payables                  - 748                  -                  -                  -                  - 748
unsecured capital notes 6.00                  -                  -                  - 18,019                  - 18,019

748                  -                  - 18,019                  - 18,767
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29. mAtuRity pRoFile oF FinAnciAl Assets And FinAnciAl liAbilities (continued)

(a) interest rate risk (continued)

compAny 2010

Weighted              current              non-current total

average 0 - 6 7 - 12 1 - 2 2 - 5 5+

effective months months years years years

interest rate $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

%

Financial Assets

Non-Derivative:

Cash and cash equivalents 2.75 802                  -                  -                  -                  - 802

trade and other receivables 2.53 2,809 3,460                  -                  -                  - 6,269

3,611 3,460                  -                  -                  - 7,071

Financial liabilities

Non-Derivative:

trade and other payables                  - 562                  -                  -                  -                  - 562

unsecured capital notes 9.75                  - 20,050                  -                  -                  - 20,050

562 20,050                  -                  -                  - 20,612

(b) Residual contractual maturities of financial assets and financial liabilities

the following tables show the gross undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities on the basis of 
their earliest possible contractual maturity and their expected maturity. the Gross nominal inflow/(outflow) disclosed in the following 
tables is the contractual, undiscounted cash flow of the financial asset or financial liability.
 

GRoup 2011

Gross

nominal 

0 - 6 7 - 12 1 - 2 2 - 5 5+ inflow/ carrying

months months years years years (outflow) Amount

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets

Non-Derivative:

Cash and cash equivalents 5,656                  -                  -                  -                  - 5,656 5,656

loans and advances to customers 37,923 12,177 17,254 51,214 194,431 312,999 227,096

trade and other receivables 1,201                  -                  -                  -                  - 1,201 1,201

44,780 12,177 17,254 51,214 194,431 319,856 233,953

Financial liabilities

Non-Derivative:

trade and other payables (1,809)                  -                  -                  -                  - (1,809) (1,809)
term loans (5,256) (108,758)                  -                  -                  - (114,014) (111,493)
Secured mortgage backed notes (2,016) (2,016) (4,031) (12,094) (91,750) (111,907) (84,618)
unsecured capital notes (541) (541) (1,082) (21,265)                  - (23,429) (18,019)
Secured debenture stock (12,259) (6,055) (3,404) (272)                  - (21,990) (20,876)

(21,881) (117,370) (8,517) (33,631) (91,750) (273,149) (236,815)

Derivative:

Derivative liabilities held for risk 
management (222) (256) (757) (233)                  - (1,468) (1,468)

(22,103) (117,626) (9,274) (33,864) (91,750) (274,617) (238,283)

total 22,677 (105,449) 7,980 17,350 102,681 45,239 (4,330)



<< 73 >>   NZF ANNUAL REPORT 2011

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2011

29. mAtuRity pRoFile oF FinAnciAl Assets And FinAnciAl liAbilities (continued)

(b) Residual contractual maturities of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

the expected maturity of financial assets and financial liabilities differs materially from the contractual maturity in respect of loans 
and advances for the Group as at 31 march 2011. the expected maturity of loans and advances and the adjusted contractual cash flows 
are as follows:    

GRoup 2011

Gross

nominal 

0 - 6 7 - 12 1 - 2 2 - 5 5+ inflow/

months months years years years (outflow)

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

loans and advances to customers 
(expected) 21,864 14,527 27,065 54,410 194,459 312,325

Adjusted total 6,618 (103,099) 17,791 20,546 102,709 44,565

As disclosed in Note 24, on 3 June 2011, westpac Banking Corporation agreed to extend the maturity date of the $225,000,000 
warehouse Facility made available to NZF mortgages warehouse A trust by a further 12 months to 18 October 2012. As is usual 
practice, this facility will be renegotiated in the ordinary course of business. 

GRoup 2010

Gross

nominal 

0 - 6 7 - 12 1 - 2 2 - 5 5+ inflow/ carrying

months months years years years (outflow) Amount

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets

Non-Derivative:

Cash and cash equivalents 15,346                  -                  -                  -                  - 15,346 15,346

loans and advances to customers 63,395 10,702 19,746 54,813 250,378 399,034 264,989

trade and other receivables 1,400                  -                  -                  -                  - 1,400 1,400

80,141 10,702 19,746 54,813 250,378 415,780 281,735

Derivative:

Derivative assets held for risk 
management                  -                  - 1 46                  - 47 47

80,141 10,702 19,747 54,859 250,378 415,827 281,782

Financial liabilities

Non-Derivative:

trade and other payables (2,265)                  -                  -                  -                  - (2,265) (2,265)

term loans (3,832) (194,022)                  -                  -                  - (197,854) (194,350)

unsecured capital notes (977) (20,942)                  -                  -                  - (21,919) (20,050)

Secured debenture stock (40,845) (13,883) (10,696) (1,582)                  - (67,006) (63,794)

(47,919) (228,847) (10,696) (1,582)                  - (289,044) (280,459)

Derivative:

Derivative liabilities held for risk 
management (183) (383) (227) (759)                  - (1,552) (1,552)

(48,102) (229,230) (10,923) (2,341)                  - (290,596) (282,011)

total 32,039 (218,528) 8,824 52,518 250,378 125,231 (229)
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29. mAtuRity pRoFile oF FinAnciAl Assets And FinAnciAl liAbilities (continued)

(b) Residual contractual maturities of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

the expected maturity of financial assets and financial liabilities differs materially from the contractual maturity in respect of loans 
and advances for the Group as at 31 march 2010. the expected maturity of loans and advances and the adjusted contractual cash flows 
are as follows:   

GRoup 2010

Gross

nominal 

0 - 6 7 - 12 1 - 2 2 - 5 5+ inflow/

months months years years years (outflow)

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

loans and advances to customers (expected) 61,069 10,681 19,746 54,757 250,378 396,631

Adjusted total 29,713 (218,549) 8,824 52,462 250,378 122,828

compAny 2011

Gross

nominal 

0 - 6 7 - 12 1 - 2 2 - 5 5+ inflow/ carrying

months months years years years (outflow) Amount

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets

Non-Derivative:

Cash and cash equivalents 106                  -                  -                  -                  - 106 106

trade and other receivables 6,356 3,819                  -                  -                  - 10,175 10,075

6,462 3,819                  -                  -                  - 10,281 10,181

Financial liabilities

Non-Derivative:

trade and other payables (748)                  -                  -                  -                  - (748) (748)
unsecured capital notes (541) (541) (1,082) (21,265)                  - (23,429) (18,019)

(1,289) (541) (1,082) (21,265)                  - (24,177) (18,767)

total 5,173 3,278 (1,082) (21,265)                  - (13,896) (8,586)
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29. mAtuRity pRoFile oF FinAnciAl Assets And FinAnciAl liAbilities (continued)

(b) Residual contractual maturities of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

compAny 2010

Gross

nominal 

0 - 6 7 - 12 1 - 2 2 - 5 5+ inflow/ carrying

months months years years years (outflow) Amount

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial Assets

Non-Derivative:

Cash and cash equivalents 802                  -                  -                  -                  - 802 802

trade and other receivables 2,910 3,470                  -                  -                  - 6,380 6,269

3,712 3,470                  -                  -                  - 7,182 7,071

Financial liabilities

Non-Derivative:

trade and other payables (562)                  -                  -                  -                  - (562) (562)

unsecured capital notes (977) (20,942)                  -                  -                  - (21,919) (20,050)

(1,539) (20,942)                  -                  -                  - (22,481) (20,612)

total 2,173 (17,472)                  -                  -                  - (15,299) (13,541)
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30. Asset QuAlity

(a) summary of lending

GRoup only 2011 2010

$’000 $’000

Neither past due nor impaired 204,664 243,480

Past due but not impaired 17,575 12,642

Impaired 9,232 11,790

Gross loans and advances 231,471 267,912

less: Impaired loan allowance (4,375) (2,923)

net loans and advances 227,096 264,989

the Group closely monitors the performance of its borrowers and the payment of instalments under its loans. the Board has adopted 
a formal debt management process to be followed when a loan falls into arrears, which includes specified time driven debt collection 
procedures, although management may take such actions earlier as circumstances require. Special monitoring of assets occurs when 
there is a risk of the asset becoming impaired and active management is required to maintain the debt. 

(b) loans and Advances past due but not impaired

GRoup only 2011 2010

$’000 $’000

past due Assets not impaired

Opening balance 12,642 25,068

Collected during the year (9,837) (20,678)

Additions to Past Due asset status 27,120 8,409

Reclassified as Impaired assets (11,414) (157)

Derecognised on sale of Finance Direct limited (936)                     - 

Closing balance 17,575 12,642
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30. Asset QuAlity (continued)

(b) loans and Advances past due but not impaired (continued) 

GRoup only 2011 2010

total instalment balance total instalment balance 

Arrears of loan Arrears of loan

principal principal

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Analysis of past due Assets not impaired:

0 - 31 Days 9,482                  39 9,443 5,879                  63 5,816

32 - 60 Days            2,799                  39            2,760 1,736                  30             1,706 

61 - 90 Days                     -                     -                     - 361                  55                306 

90+ Days            5,294                  31            5,263 4,666                400             4,266 

total past due Assets not impaired 17,575 109 17,466 12,642                548 12,094

security value of past due Assets 23,434 17,372

lvR 75% 73%

past due Assets underwritten by third 
party insurers 8,270 6,780

past due Assets not Reinsured 9,305 5,862

security value of past due Assets not 
Reinsured 11,954 8,117

lvR 78% 72%
 
Past Due Assets Not Impaired represent loans and Advances to Customers where contractual interest or principal payments are past 
due but the Group believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral available and/or the stage 
of collection of amounts owed to the Group.
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30. Asset QuAlity (continued)

(c) impaired Assets

At 31 march 2011, there were no restructured assets, real estate assets or other assets acquired through the enforcement of security 
(2010: $nil). the breakdown of the gross amount of other individually impaired loans and advances and individual impairment 
allowances is as follows:

GRoup only 2011 2010

total property home consumer total property home consumer

Finance loans Finance Finance loans Finance

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

total Gross impaired Assets

Opening balance 11,790 11,627              - 163
      

16,825     16,511          -             314 

Net additions 11,414 10,231 419 764            510 386          -             124 

loan repayments received (9,331) (9,141) (109) (81) (4,895) (4,736)          - (159)

Amounts written off (3,896) (3,746) (49) (101) (650) (534)          - (116)

Derecognised on sale of 
Finance Direct limited (745)               -              - (745)

               
-               -          -                  - 

Closing balance 9,232 8,971 261                  - 11,790 11,627          - 163

individual Allowance for 
impairment (4,076) (3,815) (261)                  - (2,341) (2,264)          - (77)

total net impaired Assets 5,156 5,156              -                  - 9,449 9,363          - 86

collateral held over impaired loans 
and Advances

First mortgages 4,184 4,184              -                  - 
      

11,627 11,627          -                  - 

Second mortgages 4,787 4,787              -                  -                -               -          -                  - 

GSA and Other Security        261               -        261                  -            163               -          - 163

9,232 8,971 261                  - 11,790 11,627          - 163
 

31. opeRAtinG leAse commitments

At 31 march 2011, the Group had operating lease commitments in respect of property, equipment and vehicles used by subsidiary 
undertakings and jointly controlled entities. At 31 march 2011, total future minimum payments under non-cancellable operating leases 
were payable as follows:

GRoup only 2011 2010

total property & motor total property & motor

equipment vehicles equipment vehicles

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

less than one year 132 85 47 236 202 34

Between one and five years 164 104 60 121 106 15

296 189 107 357 308 49

there are no onerous terms concerning renewal of the above leases and the Group does not sublet any of the leased assets. 

32. cApitAl commitments

On 26 June 2008, NZF money limited entered into a Software licence and maintenance Agreement with ultradata Australia Pty limited 
for the procurement of a new It operating platform. under the terms of the agreement, the licence Fee commitment amounted to 
$400,000, which was payable in various stages up to and including the Go live date, with annual maintenance Fees then payable, 
representing 20% of the licence Fee amount. total implementation costs were estimated to be in the region of $1,500,000; $844,000 of 
which had been incurred as at 31 march 2010. On 1 December 2010, the intellectual property, together with all costs incurred to date in 
connection with developing the new It operating platform, were transferred at carrying value of $878,000 to NZF homeloans limited, as 
the Board of Directors considered that the project now had more scope to add value and help with expansion of the Group’s home loans 
business. there were no other material capital commitments at 31 march 2011 (2010: $nil).
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33. continGent Assets And liAbilities

under a Share Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 2 April 2007, NZF Group limited agreed to provide a facility of up to $1,000,000 to 
Finance Direct limited. this agreement, along with the Company’s commitment to provide a facility, was cancelled contemporaneously  
with the sale of the Company’s investment in Finance Direct limited to the existing minority shareholder on 30 march 2011 
(see Note 20).   

there were no other contingent assets or liabilities at 31 march 2011 (2010: $nil). 

34. RelAted pARty tRAnsActions

GRoup  Weighted Average interest Received/ Asset/(liability)

 interest Rate (paid) at 31 march

 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

entity Relationship % % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

  

Related party loans  

mPmh limited Jointly Controlled 
Entities

               -                -                -                - 199 199

mike Pero Real Estate limited                -                -                -                - 50                - 

                -                - 249 199

  

term loans  

hillview trust trust Associated 
with Pat Redpath 

O’Connor (Non-
Executive Director)

8.00%                - (83)                - (2,383)                - 

  

secured debenture stock  

hillview trust 6.73% 6.65% (121) (99) (1,400) (1,800)

        

compAny  Weighted Average interest Received/ Asset/(liability)

 interest Rate (paid) at 31 march

 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010

entity Relationship % % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

  

call Account deposit  

NZF money limited Subsidiary                - 4.50%                - 78                -                - 

  

secured subordinated notes  

NZF mortgages warehouse A trust Controlled trust 4.80% 5.84% 163 144 3,810 3,460

  

Related party loans  

NZF money limited Subsidiary                -                -                -                - (187)                - 

NZF homeloans limited Subsidiary                -                -                -                - 4,992                - 

NZF mortgages warehouse A trust Controlled trust 3.75% 3.75% 29 51                - 1,400

New Zealand mortgage Finance 
limited Subsidiary                -                -                -                - 872 1,005

Finance Direct limited Subsidiary                -                -                - 11                -                - 

 29 62 5,677 2,405

  

mPmh limited
Jointly Controlled 

Entity                -                -                -                - 398 398
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34. RelAted pARty tRAnsActions (continued)

All of the above balances are unsecured and repayable on demand, except for the term loans of $2,383,000 (2010: $nil), the Secured 
Debenture Stock of $1,400,000 (2010: $1,800,000) and the Secured Subordinated Notes of $3,810,000 (2010: $3,460,000). the term 
loans provided by the hillview trust to NZF money limited under a loan Participation Arrangement are secured against certain 
first mortgage loans totalling $8,313,000 as at 31 march 2011 (2010: $nil), in which the trust participates on a first priority basis. 
the Secured Debenture Stock funding of $1,400,000 (2010: $1,800,000) provided by the hillview trust to NZF money limited is 
secured against the assets and undertakings of NZF money limited and is scheduled for repayment on 29 April 2011. the Secured 
Subordinated Notes are secured against the assets and undertakings of NZF mortgages warehouse A trust and are repayable at 
the earlier to occur of the date of termination of the warehouse Facility Agreement or the vesting Date or such other date as agreed 
between the warehouse Facility Provider, NZF homeloans limited as trust manager, and the New Zealand Guardian trust Company 
limited as trustee.

In addition to the above, NZF Group limited and mike Pero mortgages limited distributed the huljich KiwiSaver Scheme using the 
NZF SuperKiwi and mike Pero Saver brands, prior to the cancellation of their respective distribution agreements during the year. 
huljich wealth management (New Zealand) limited was the Funds management provider responsible for paying upfront and trail 
commissions to NZF Group limited and mike Pero mortgages limited, of which $66,000 (2010: $216,000) and $44,000 (2010: $56,000) 
was respectively received during the year ended 31 march 2011. Peter Karl Christopher huljich, a former Non-Executive Director of 
NZF Group limited, was a beneficial shareholder in huljich wealth management (New Zealand) limited. 

No amounts owed by related parties were written off or forgiven during the year ended 31 march 2011 (2010: $nil). 

35. subseQuent events

On 3 June 2011 the $225,000,000 warehouse Facility between westpac Banking Corporation, NZF mortgages warehouse A trust, NZF 
homeloans limited and NZF Group limited, was renegotiated and extended the maturity date of the facility to 18 October 2012.

On 10 June 2011, NZF Group limited has entered into exclusive due diligence with an Australian private company over a staged period. 
It is expected that the party will support the home loan activities. the Australian partner which will have a majority stake in NZF’s 
home loan division and is vastly experienced in the Australian RmBS market and will add significantly to the current operations of this 
division.

the Directors are not aware of any matters or circumstances since the end of the reporting period, not otherwise dealt with within this 
report or financial statements that have significantly or may significantly affect the consolidated operations of NZF Group limited.
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